INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



University of Alberta

Program Evaluation of an Outpatient Seating Program

by

Bethany Hutchinson

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Department of Occupational Therapy

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2005



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: Our file Notre retérence ISBN:

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Abstract

An improvement oriented program evaluation was conducted in an outpatient seating program serving adults living in an urban area. This study elicited perspectives of the professional and technical staff about the program structure, processes, and outcomes. An important objective for the program was to ensure a: "Client is assigned to the appropriate clinic (commercial or custom) and is assessed in a timely manner". The processes related to this objective were referral, screening, and prioritization. These processes were said to fluctuate along a continuum between effective and ineffective depending on the impacting factors. The impacting factors were said to be the referral form, the referral agent, the composition of the seating team, the accuracy of referral information, the screener, and the prioritization method. Recommendations for how to maximize strengths and how to overcome weaknesses included: (1) revising the referral form; (2) accrediting therapists as referral agents; (3) developing and implementing screening guidelines; (4) offering commercial, custom, and combined seating clinics; (5) designating an experienced therapist to consistently screen referrals; and (6) developing and implementing prioritization standards.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	. 1
Seating Services	. 1
Study Purpose	
The Seating Program	. 3
Research Questions	
Overview of Thesis	.6
Literature Review	÷ .,
Theoretical Models in Seating	.7
Seating Assessment	. 9
Assessment of Physical Status	10
Assessment of Skin Integrity and Pressure	1
Assessment of Comfort	
Summary of Seating Assessment	
An Overview of Seating Interventions	
Anticipated Outcomes / Benefits of Seating	
Program Evaluations of Seating Programs	
Summary	
Methodology - Program Evaluation	
Assessment of Program Quality	5 I

Program Evaluation Approaches	.23
Types of Program Evaluation	.24
Program Evaluation Methods	.26
Summary	28
Research Method	30
Obtaining Program Endorsement	30
The Seating Program Stakeholders	31
Recruitment of Sample	32
Obtaining Informed Consent	33
The Sample	34
Overview of Data Collection Methods	35
Questionnaire Format & Procedures	35
Interview Format & Procedures	36
Interview Data Analysis	37
Study Trustworthiness	40
Utility	
은 일이나 같은 것 같은 것은 것은 것을 알려요. 것은 것은 것은 것을 가지 않는 것이 가지 않는 것을 가지 않는 것을 가지 않는 것을 알려요. 2013년 1월 2017년 1월 201	
	41
Accuracy	41
Summary	
Research Findings	

(1) Pr	ogram Outcomes Viewed by Participants as Important and	as
	Needing Improvement	. 43
(2) Th	e Relationship between Program Structure, Processes, an	d
	Outcomes	. 44
(3) Sti	rengths and Weaknesses of Intake Processes	. 46
	A. The Referral Process	. 47
	B. The Screening Process	. 53
	C. Prioritization Process	. 64
Summ	nary	. 66
Discussion		. 67
Maxin	nizing Strengths and Overcoming Weaknesses	. 67
	The Referral Form	. 68
	The Referral Agent	. 73
	Screening Algorithm	.77
	The Screener	
	Prioritization Standards	. 80
Metho	dological Concerns	. 83
	Issues Related to Utility	. 83
	Issues Related to Feasibility	. 84
	Issues Related to Accuracy	. 85
	Limitations of this Study	. 85

Directions for Future Resear	rch	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	86
Summary of Findings and Recomm	nendations	•••••		88
Bibliography		•••••		92
Appendix A: Letter of Information /	Consent For	n		101
Appendix B: Paper & Pencil Questi	ionnaire			104
Appendix C: Interview Script	· ·	n an		106
Appendix D: Exercise Form				111

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. The Benefits of Seating	17
Table 2. Program Evaluation of Seating Programs	18
Table 3. Types of Program Evaluations	25
Table 4. Characteristics of Study Participants	34
Table 5. Sample Data Analysis	38
Table 6. Seating Program Structure, Processes, and Outcomes	45
Table 7. Referral Form Sections	49
Table 8. Characteristics of an Ideal Referral Agent	52
Table 9. Clinical Rationale used in Screening	60
Table 10. Characteristics of an Ideal Screener	62
Table 11. Level of Priority for Seating Concerns	82
Table 12. Summary of Program Structure, Processes, and Outcome	89
Table 13. Factors Impacting the Effectiveness of Intake Processes	90
Table 14. Summary of Recommendations	90

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. The Result of Positive Factors on the Intake Process	46
Figure 2. The Result of Negative Factors on the Intake Process	47
Figure 3. An Effective Referral Process.	53
Figure 4. An Ineffective Referral Process.	. 53
Figure 5. An Effective Screening Process	63
Figure 6. An Ineffective Screening Process	63
Figure 7. An Effective Prioritization Process.	65
Figure 8. An Ineffective Prioritization Process.	66
Figure 9. Sample Referral Form	71
Figure 10. Sample Enabler	76
Figure 11. Sample Enabler	77
Figure 12. Sample Algorithm for Screening Guidelines	78
Figure 13. Algorithm of Intake Protocol	

Introduction

In 2001, 2.5 million or 10 percent of Canadians over the age of fifteen had mobility problems (Cossette & Duclos, 2002). Consequently, many individuals required the use of seating and mobility devices. A seating device is a piece of equipment used to position an individual in a sitting position and a seating system is an assembly of seating devices used with an individual (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Hobson, 1990). A mobility device is a piece of equipment used to achieve locomotion and a seated mobility device is a piece of equipment, such as a wheelchair, in which an individual is sitting to achieve locomotion (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Hobson, 1990). Cook & Hussey (2002) described seating systems as forming an interface between the individual and their seated mobility device.

Seating Services

Seating services are most commonly provided by one professional, or a team of professionals, who are trained in occupational therapy, physical therapy, orthotics, or medical equipment service. Seating teams are often multidisciplinary combining the skills, knowledge, and expertise of different professionals. Seating services may be delivered in a variety of settings

including: (a) private homes, (b) continuing care facilities, (c) acute care hospitals, (d) rehabilitation centers, (e) medical equipment supply stores, (f) private clinics, etc.

Seating services typically provide assessments, education, interventions, and follow-up services related to seating devices and/or seated mobility devices. The seating systems provided may include commercial, custom fabricated seating devices, or a hybrid combining these types of seating devices (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Hobson, 1990). The seating systems may address clinical goals related to function, posture management, pressure management, and/or comfort. Additional information related to seating will be provided in Chapter 2 - Literature Review.

Study Purpose

The purpose of this research was to complete a process evaluation of a seating program. The evaluation aimed to identify program processes that required improvement and processes that were working well.

The Seating Program

This study examined an outpatient seating program located in a continuing care facility. The seating program served adults and seniors, with moderate to severe postural deformities, living in community or continuing care facilities. The seating program provided two types of seating: (a) commercial seating which included seating devices mass produced by manufactures (e.g., Invacare, Jay), and (b) custom seating which included unique seating devices designed and fabricated by a seating technician for an individual client.

Clients who required commercial seating were seen by a seating team comprised of an occupational therapist, a physical therapist, and a medical equipment supplier. Clients who required custom seating were assessed by an occupational therapist, a physical therapist, and a custom seating technician. Other health professionals (e.g., the referral agent) could also be involved in the assessment process.

The seating program was regulated and funded in part by the provincial government. Regulations imposed by the government included:

3

- 1. All program employees were required to complete a provincial seating education program.
- At least one therapist must have minimum of two years experience in seating assessment and intervention.
- 3. At least one therapist must have experience with wheelchairs.
- Funding for seating devices is subject to the provincial government's approval.
- 5. The provincial referral form should be used to access the program.
- 6. The provincial assessment form and assessment procedures should be followed for all clients.

The seating program provided services including assessment, education, intervention, and follow-up. Clients were seen by the program on a referral basis. Referrals could be made by health professionals, physicians, clients, or families. Clients were assigned to either a commercial or custom seating clinic appointment based on the referral information.

The seating clinics took place at one of three sites: (a) a medical equipment supplier retail site; (b) the seating program site; or (c) an alternate location in the community. The provincial assessment procedures and form were

completed with all clients. The assessment generally consisted of four parts an initial interview, a postural evaluation, a skin inspection, and body measurements. Once the assessment data were collected, the client's key problem areas were identified and collaborative goals were developed by the seating team.

Clients served by the program typically had intervention goals related to function, pressure management, posture management, and/or comfort. The seating interventions provided were commercial, custom, or hybrid seating systems. Three months after intervention occurred a follow up contact (e.g., telephone call) was completed with the client.

The seating program conducted a minimum of two clinics per week. Each clinic was approximately eight hours in duration and included four to six clients. One clinic per week focused on commercial seating devices and the second focused on custom seating devices. Other program activities, including the fitting of custom seating systems, paper work, and the completion of follow up occurred during the other three days per week.

5

Research Questions

This program evaluation was completed to answer three research questions: What are the perspectives of the stakeholders regarding the strengths and weaknesses of the:

- (1) *referral process* used by the seating program?
- (2) screening process used by the seating program?
- (3) *prioritization process* used by the seating program?

Overview of Thesis

This thesis presents a program evaluation of an outpatient seating program. Chapter one outlined the purpose of the study, the research questions, an introduction to seating services, and a description of the seating program evaluated. Chapter two presents a synthesis of current research and literature related to seating and program evaluations. Chapter three details the methodology and research methods used in this study. Chapter four presents the research findings. Chapter five explores the implications of the findings, the methodological issues encountered, and directions for future research. Chapter six summarizes the research findings and the recommendations for improvements to this seating program.

Literature Review

Seating is a form of assistive technology that may apply to a diverse population across a multitude of settings. Seating involves the evaluation of many factors to obtain a holistic view of the client's needs. Over the past twenty years, the literature has primarily discussed seating related to four topics: (1) theoretical models, (2) assessments, (3) interventions, and (4) outcomes. There have been limited reports on seating services from a program evaluation perspective.

This literature review will begin by examining seating in relation to theory, assessment, intervention, and outcomes. Then, the program evaluation research related to seating will be explored. Last, directions for future research will be identified.

Theoretical Models in Seating

The theoretical foundation of seating originates from assistive technology models. In particular three models have been applied in the field of seating, namely: (1) the Matching Person Technology (MPT) Model (Scherer, 1994); (2) the Human Activity Assistive Technology (HAAT)

Model (Cook & Hussey, 2002); and (3) the Person Device Environment (PDE) Model (Stiens, 1998). These models represent a global, holistic approach to seating. These models outline the interrelationship between the assistive technology (e.g., seating device), the user, and the environment. In addition, the HAAT model illustrates the importance of the activity, task, or performance goal that the seating device is intended to satisfy.

The concept of 'matching' the seating device to the user is outlined as a key element of the seating process (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Hobson, 1990; Johnson Taylor, 1987; Minkel, 2003; Pratt, 2003; Presperin, 1989). In the process of 'matching' a client profile is generated based on assessment findings. This client profile summarizes the concerns or needs to be addressed by the seating system. The profile is used to 'match' the seating device characteristics to the client's needs (e.g., lateral trunk support). The final step in 'matching' is selecting the actual seating devices that will best suit the client.

Although holistic seating assessment has a sound theoretical basis, implementing this approach in practice can be challenging. One challenge can be the allocation of sufficient time due to diminished health care

8

resources. Programs or services may be pressured to abandon holistic assessment in favor of a less resource-intensive approach (Boudreau, 2001).

The absence of a multidisciplinary team also creates a challenge when attempting to complete a holistic seating assessment. Ideally, a seating team would include occupational therapists, physical therapists, skilled technicians, and the client. Each team member, including the client, brings expertise to the assessment process. The absence of a team member(s) may limit the collection of information from different professional perspectives and this may influence the team's overall understanding of the client.

Seating Assessment

A holistic seating assessment involves the evaluation of numerous factors including: the device, the user, the activity, and the environment. Seating assessment literature has primarily focused on methods to evaluate the seating user. In particular, the assessment of physical status, skin integrity, and comfort has been frequently reported in the literature.

(Bradley et al., 1986; Bergen et al., 1990; Cook & Hussey, 2002; Hobson, 1990; Johnson Taylor, 1987; Mattingly, 1993; Minkel, 2000; Pope, 1996).

Other factors of importance in the seating assessment include safety, psychosocial status, functional status, financial status, and the environment (Bradley et al., 1986; Cook & Hussey, 2002; Hobson, 1990; Johnson Taylor, 1987; Mattingly, 1993; Minkel, 2000; Pope, 1996; Pratt, 2003; Stiens, 1998). Population specific factors, such as the child's ability to play (Kangas, 2003) or an individual's ability to function in an institutional environment (Redford, 1993) are other important considerations.

Assessment of Physical Status

An assessment of physical status includes the evaluation of: (a) body size, (b) neuromotor factors, (c) skeletal deformities, and (d) gross motor and fine motor abilities (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Cutter & Blake, 1997; Hobson, 1990; Johnson Taylor, 1987; Mattingly, 1993; Waksvik & Levy, 1979; Winter and Waldermar; 1986). The assessment occurs with the individual positioned in his/her seated mobility device (e.g., wheelchair) and on a firm mat in sitting and supine positions. Range of motion at the pelvis,

spine, hips, knees, and ankles is evaluated. The presence or absence of skeletal deformities is noted, reflexes and motor skill are assessed, and body measurements are recorded. This approach is largely based on clinical observations and professional judgment. Consequently, it is common to see variations in this type of assessment. For example, the assessment of pelvic range of motion has been described differently by at least four authors including Cook & Hussey (2002), Minkel (2003), Pope (1996), and Pratt (2003).

A standardized measurement for physical status has been developed by Fife et al. (1991). The Seated Postural Control Measure (SPCM) is an objective instrument intended for use with children who experience neuromotor disabilities. The instrument uses a criterion referenced scale to guide the evaluation of twenty-two seated postural alignments and twelve functional movements in children. The aim of this tool was to yield reliable and valid measurements of posture pre and post seating intervention. However, early research (Fife et al., 1991; McDonald et al., 2003) has shown that the SPCM has a high degree of variability and poor interrater reliability. It has been suggested that the absence of standardized measurement procedures and variations in clinical

11

observations may account for the high degree of variability (Fife et al, 1991; McDonald et al., 2003). Continued research on the SPCM is indicated and development of valid and reliable instruments for pediatric, adult, and geriatric populations would be beneficial.

Assessment of Skin Integrity and Pressure

Skin integrity is a major concern for wheelchair users because immobility increases the risk of developing pressure ulcers (Braden, 2001). The assessment of pressure and skin integrity may involve skin inspection, assessment of wound cause, and/or interface pressure mapping. The literature gave vague descriptions of the methods used in skin inspection and the assessment of wound cause related to seating (Braden, 2001; Collins, 2001; Wagner et al., 1994), but included more information about interface pressure mapping.

Interface pressure mapping is an instrument that measures the pressure between a weight bearing surface of the body and an external surface, such as a wheelchair cushion (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Swaine et al., 2005). Interface pressure mapping may be computer-based using visual

12

displays, color images, and numerical values to represent the interface pressure on the tissues (Brienza et al., 2005; Cook & Hussey, 2002; Minkel, 2003; Swaine et al., 2005; Stinson et al., 2002).

The clinical applications of interface pressure mapping include comparison of support surfaces, evaluation of sitting and lying postures, and identification of anatomical sites under significant pressure loads (Brienza et al., 2005; Hutchinson et al., 2004; Minkel, 2003; Swaine et al., 2005). A further benefit of interface pressure mapping is that it provides valuable visual feedback to the client about pressure (Brienza, 2005; Hutchinson et al., 2004; Hutchinson & Orsted, 2003; Swaine et al., 2005). Research and clinical practice protocol development with interface pressure mapping are ongoing.

Assessment of Comfort

Comfort is a major concern reported by wheelchair and seating device users (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Crane et al., 2003) and it can be challenging to assess due to its subjective nature. In seating, the evaluation of comfort may involve the comparison of multiple subjective client reports. In an attempt to better measure wheelchair user comfort Crane et al.

(2003) developed the Wheelchair Seating Discomfort Assessment Tool (WCS-DAT). This tool uses sixteen unique indicators of comfort and thirteen unique indicators of discomfort for wheelchair users. There are plans to further examine this measure in order to establish validity and reliability.

Summary of Seating Assessment

Numerous perspectives on seating assessment have been outlined by clinicians and opinion leaders within the literature. Three important factors that should be examined within a comprehensive seating assessment include physical status, skin integrity, and comfort. The assessment of these factors may involve use of clinical strategies and/or standardized instruments.

An Overview of Seating Interventions

Hobson (1990) and Cook & Hussey (2002) described three seating categories based on the purpose of the seating intervention, namely: (1) seating for

pressure management; (2) seating for postural control and deformity management; and (3) seating for comfort.

Clients requiring seating for pressure management are individuals with decreased mobility and impaired sensation. As a result, these individuals are at increased risk for tissue breakdown (i.e., pressure ulcers). Seating interventions for this population may correct flexible deformities or accommodate fixed deformities with an overall goal of re-distributing pressures on the body to minimize the occurrence of pressure ulcers.

Individuals who require seating for postural control and deformity management lack the intrinsic forces (e.g., muscle control) needed to maintain an upright sitting posture. For this group, seating involves the application of seating devices to correct body alignment and to support or maintain body position.

The third category, seating for comfort, generally applies to individuals who require postural accommodation due to fixed deformities and members of the geriatric population. In general, the seating interventions may consist of postural accommodation and/or postural correction to achieve optimal comfort for the user.

Numerous seating interventions have been evaluated using clinical research yielding mixed outcomes (Bay, 1991; Bolin et al., 2000; Chandler & Knackert, 1997; Chen et al., 1990; Cron & Sprigle, 1993; Hughes et al., 1992; Humle et al., 1987; Kennedy et al., 2003; Koo et al., 1996; McInerney & McInerney, 1992; McPherson et al., 1991; Noronha et al., 1989; Olunwa, 1987; Olunwa, 1986; Presperin Pedersen, 2000; Rader et al., 1999; Seeger et al., 1984). The efficacy of seating interventions has been examined through program evaluations on a few occasions. These program evaluations will be discussed later in this chapter.

Anticipated Outcomes / Benefits of Seating

There have been extensive reports on the potential benefits of proper seating. These reports come from the perspective of opinion leaders in the field of seating and from the results of clinical research. The benefits of seating are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. The Benefits of Seating

The Benefits of Seating (Bergen et al., 1990; Chen et al., 1990; Collins, n.d.; Hobson, 1990; Minkel, 2000; Pope, 1996; Roxborough, 1995)

1. Enhanced function

2. Normalization of tone and reflexes

- 3. Maintenance of normal skeletal alignment and control of deformities
- 4. Prevention of tissue breakdown
- 5. Increased comfort and reduced fatigue
- 6. Enhanced respiration
- 7. Improved oral motor and gastrointestinal function
- 8. Enhanced hand function
- 9. Increased potential for interpersonal interaction

Program Evaluations of Seating Programs

A total of six seating program evaluations have been reported in the literature. Of the six evaluations, two were needs assessments, two were outcome evaluations, one was a cost analysis, and one was an evaluation of program processes and outcomes. A brief summary of these seating

17

program evaluations is provided in Table 2.

	Authors	Evaluation	Evaluation Aim	
	Chisholm, 1998 Lachmann et	Type Needs Assessment	 To examine the preferences and needs of persons with development disabilities in British Columbia, Canada To review current seating services and their ability to meet the needs of clients To propose an optimal service delivery model To identify the number of individuals who 	
	al., 1993	Assessment	 had seating devices 2. To evaluate the number of individuals who did not have seating devices, but actually required seating devices 3. To assess the demand for special power wheelchair controls 	
	Datta & Ariyaratnam, 1996	Outcome Evaluation	 To assess users' and therapists' views on the seating devices provided To assess users' and therapists' views on the usefulness of the seating services 	
	Collins, 2001	Outcome Evaluation	 To evaluate if the specialist seating service in the United Kingdom met the needs of the population To describe basic principles for seating To provide guidelines for cushion and armchair selection 	
	Mulvany & Likens, 1998	Cost Analysis	 To assess the fiscal viability of the program providing seating devices To determine program components which impact on program effectiveness, efficiency, and quality 	
	McComas et al., 1995	Process Evaluation & Outcome Evaluation	 To assess the users' and carers' views on the seating program and how it could be improved To assess the users' and carers' views on the seating device received To incorporate evaluation results into a client satisfaction survey for the seating 	
L			program	

Table 2. Program Evaluation of Seating Programs

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Summary

The literature has addressed topics related to seating including theory, assessment strategies, intervention options, and the benefits of seating. A limited number of seating programs have been examined using program evaluation. Therefore, there is a need to generate more information, better understanding, and increased knowledge about seating programs, their operations and outcomes. In short, additional program evaluation research of seating programs is indicated.

Methodology - Program Evaluation

Today, more than ever, there is a focus on providing quality health services and programs to clients (Bate & Robert, 2002; Patton, 1997; Timmreck, 2003). However, the question of what constitutes program quality and how it should be measured has been widely debated. Factors that have been suggested as contributors to program quality include: program structure, program processes, program outcomes, and program economics (Donabedian, 1988; Letts et al., 1999; Patton, 1997; Rossi et al., 2004; Timmreck, 2003).

Program evaluation is one methodology used to assess program quality. Program evaluation can be defined as "... a systematic approach of research procedures to assess the efficiency, effectiveness, design and/or implementation of a programme" (Letts et al., 1999, p. 1) or "... the process of comparing an object of interest with an acceptable standard, as well as concern for effectiveness, efficiency and quality of activities, and performance" (Timmreck, 2003, p.186).

20

Assessment of Program Quality

One common dilemma encountered in program evaluation is which specific program component to evaluate. Donabedian recognized this dilemma over thirty years ago and at that time developed the Structure-Process-Outcome Model. This model is now a widely accepted approach to assessing program quality (Donabedian, 1988) by identifying and assessing program components (i.e., structure, processes, and outcomes) and their relationship to one another. The Donabedian Structure-Process-Outcome model has been applied in numerous quality assurance projects such as Barker and Girvin (1991), Closs and Tierney (1993), Handler et al. (2001), Howard (1994), and Tapaneeyakorn (2002).

Donabedian (2003) described program structure as "... the conditions under which care is provided" (p. 51), including materials, facilities, equipment, human and non-human resources, and organizational characteristics of the program. Program processes are described as "... the activities that constitute health care..." (Donabedian, 2003, p. 46), including diagnosis, assessment, treatment, rehabilitation, prevention, and education. Program outcomes are the "... changes (desirable or undesirable) in individuals or populations that can be attributed to health care" (Donabedian, 2003, p. 46), including changes in the recipients'

21

health, knowledge, behaviour, and/or the recipients' satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the care.

"Structure, process and outcome are not attributes of quality. They are only kinds of information one can obtain, based on which one can infer whether quality is good or not (Donabedian, 2003, p. 47)". To make inferences about quality the way in which structure influences process and process influence outcomes should be established for the program. The credibility of such judgments will depend on the certainty or probability of the relationships. Credibility may be enhanced by gathering information from individuals who are well versed in the program operations and those who have multiple, diverse experiences with the program.

"We say such and such characteristic of process signify quality because we know (or believe) that they contribute to desirable outcomes. And, on the contrary, that such and such characteristics of process signify poor quality because they are known (or believed) to result in undesirable outcomes (Donabedian, 2003 p. 52)".

22

Program Evaluation Approaches

There are two main approaches to program evaluation, namely summative and formative. A summative approach examines the overall effectiveness, impact, or outcome of the program. It provides information about a program's worth and merit, and is often used to make decisions about continuing or terminating a program (Letts et al., 1999; Timmreck, 2003). A formative approach evaluates how a program operates, assesses its strengths and challenges, and gathers information to guide improvement of the program (Rossi et al., 2004).

In the past, emphasis had been placed on summative evaluation to justify the usefulness and effectiveness of programs. However, recently there has been increased use of formative evaluations with a focus on improvement. This change in approach is congruent with an overall movement toward continuous quality improvement (Bate & Robert, 2002). In the study presented here formative evaluation was used to assess program quality and gain direction for improving the seating program.

Types of Program Evaluation

Numerous types of program evaluation exist to serve different purposes and to answer different research questions. On occasion, more than one type of evaluation may be required to adequately assess a program. The key is to select the type of evaluation that will most effectively obtain the desired information about the program to investigate the research question. Table 3 summarizes seven different types of program evaluations including descriptions and typical research questions.

In this study, an assessment of program processes was undertaken to evaluate the strengths and weakness of seating program processes. The two ways to assess program processes are process evaluation and process monitoring. The key difference between the two methods is that process monitoring is ongoing and continuous; whereas process evaluation provides a "snapshot" view of a program at one moment in time. Process evaluation, was used in the thesis presented here.

	es of Program Evaluation			
Туре	Description	Typical Research Questions		
	(Letts et al.,1999;			
	Rossi et al., 2004;			
	Timmreck, 2003)			
Needs	Assesses the need for the	What are the needs of this		
Assessment	program, identifies gaps	population with regard to xxxx		
	between populations	(e.g. pain management)? What		
	needs and available	are the currently available		
	services / programs	resources and services? In what		
		ways do the currently available		
		services meet the needs of the		
		population and in what ways do		
		they not meet those needs? How		
		can unmet needs be provided for?		
Evaluability	Describe the goals,	What are the key indicators of		
Assessment	activities, and resources	satisfactory performance for the		
	of the program, and	program as identified by xxxx		
	establishes indicators for	stakeholder group?		
	goal achievement			
Process	Assessment of how a	What processes need to be		
Evaluation	program is delivered and	strengthened and which need to		
LVUIGUION	measurement of the	be changed to improve xxxx (e.g.,		
	strengths and challenges	the time to the response, number		
	in the program operations	of patients seen, satisfaction with		
	at one moment in time	the program, etc.)?		
Process	Ongoing, systemic,	To what extent are the		
Monitoring	continual review of the	performance indicators of the		
Monitoring	program performance,	program being met?		
	operations and	program being meth		
	administrative activities			
Outcome	Assessment of the results	To what extent has the program		
Evaluation	or consequences of the	achieved its intended outcomes?		
LVAIUAUUII	program interventions or			
	activities			
Impact	Examines the extent to	What is the overall impact of the		
Evaluation	which the treatment leads	program on the given population		
	to the intended outcome	in terms of xxxx (e.g., reducing the		
		number of seniors being admitted		
		to hospital following a fall)?		
Efficiency	Verifies if the same	Is the program cost effective when		
Efficiency Evaluation	treatment outcome could	compared to xxxx (e.g., hospital		
Evaluation	be obtained in a more	admission)?		
		aumission		
	efficient, cost effective manner			
Program Evaluation Methods

The development of a program evaluation, like other research, follows a sequence of steps including selection of: (a) evaluation questions, (b) study design, (c) sampling strategy, (d) data collection methods, and (e) analysis procedures (Fitzpatrick et al., 2004). These steps were followed in this program evaluation.

Program evaluation can use quantitative and/or qualitative methods. The method chosen should suit the research question. Use of quantitative methods is appropriate when a body of knowledge already exists, when an issue is specific and concrete, and when a judgment is desired (Clark-Carter, 2004). Conversely, issues suitable for qualitative investigation tend to be complex and emergent in nature (Hurley, 1999). In addition, qualitative methods are a powerful and versatile way to clarify issues that have contradicting perspectives (Shortell, 1999). The use of mixed methods in program evaluation is driven by a need for more information than a single method could yield. In such a case, the second method used should fill the void left by the first method (Fitzpatrick et al., 2004).

Quantitative methods are used to yield a judgment and often prove or disprove a hypothesis. Quantitative inquiry draws on objective, scientific,

26

numerical data in a systematic, unbiased way. This type of research uses robust sampling methods, standardized data collection procedures and is concerned with validity and the reliability of the research findings (Blumenthal & DiClemente, 2004). Data are analyzed using statistical computations to determine levels of significance and interpreted to form a judgment.

In contrast, qualitative methodology is interested in participants - as experts – who can share experiences, perspectives, and meaning about an issue (Blumenthal & DiClemente, 2004; Mays & Pope, 2000). Qualitative methods lend themselves to the development of a holistic, comprehensive understanding of an issue, and not to a stance of judgment (Blumenthal & DiClemente, 2004). Sources of data for qualitative research may include: observations, questionnaires, interviews, document analysis, focus groups, etc. The data are commonly recorded and transcribed and are analyzed using content analysis where codes, categories, and themes are identified (Blumenthal & DiClemente, 2004; Mayan, 2001). This study used qualitative methods to gather and analyze program data to gain an understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of processes used in the seating program.

Program Evaluation Participants

In program evaluations, the participants are selected from a target population called stakeholders. Stakeholders are individuals who are in some way involved with the program (Rossi et al., 2004). Stakeholders may include program users, program employees, administrators, funding agencies, etc. When conducting a program evaluation it may not be feasible to involve all stakeholders; therefore, sampling may be required. The sampling method used should agree with the study design and research method chosen. The study presented in this thesis used a purposive sample of program employees. The employees were selected because of the important, rich, and possibly differing perspectives they could share about the seating program.

Summary

Program evaluation has become a common methodology in the assessment of program quality. Program evaluations can take on different styles, serve many purposes, and employ qualitative and/or quantitative methods. The study presented here used a formative approach to a program process evaluation. This evaluation incorporated Donabadien's Structure-Process-Outcomes Model and qualitative research methods.

This evaluation collected data from a purposive sample of program

stakeholders.

Research Method

Qualitative methods were used in this study to gather participants' insights, experiences and perspectives on the seating program. The Donabedian Structure-Process-Outcome Model was used with participants to establish the seating program components and their relationship to one another. This information became the foundation for discussing the strengths and weaknesses of the program processes.

Obtaining Program Endorsement

To recap: this evaluation involved an outpatient seating clinic program, which served adults and seniors with moderate to severe postural deformities. The seating program provided assessment, education, intervention, and follow-up services. The seating systems provided by the seating program were commercial, custom, or hybrid.

In preparation for the study, the researcher met with the seating program leader and the chairperson of the facility's research and design committee. The purpose of this meeting was to explain the proposed study. At the end of the meeting, permission was granted for the program evaluation to

occur pending the study's approval by the Health Research Ethics Board (HREB).

The Seating Program Stakeholders

The target population for the study included program stakeholders, who are described as "people who have a stake – vested interest – in evaluation findings" (Patton, 1997, p.41). Stakeholders of the seating program were identified as the program employees, clients and families accessing the program, referral agents, and funding sources. Of those identified, only program employees were selected as participants for the study. This subset of stakeholders was chosen for their in-depth knowledge of the program's procedures, of which other stakeholders would have little or no knowledge, and their ability to give insight into the processes and operations based on multiple experiences of different clients and situations. Such awareness and expertise has the potential to provide operational judgments. Specific inclusion criteria were:

- 1. Full time, part-time or casual employee of the seating program, and
- 2. Occupational therapists, physical therapists, or seating technicians employed with the seating program

31

In order to keep the study focused and manageable within the confines of the available resources other stakeholders were not included. Exclusion criteria were:

- 1. Past employees of the seating program
- 2. Clerical and administrative employees with the seating program
- 3. Clients, families and caregivers
- 4. Referral agents
- 5. Funding representatives

Recruitment of Sample

Based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria seven stakeholders were eligible for the study. Stakeholders were recruited using the following procedures:

- Eligible stakeholders were approached by the program leader. The program leader provided participants with a letter of information / consent form (see Appendix A) outlining the program evaluation details.
- 2. Each participant was asked to review the form, then sign and return it by mail if he/she wished to participate in the study. At the same time,

each participant was given a paper and pencil questionnaire to be completed and returned by mail.

 Once informed consent was obtained, each participant was contacted and a convenient date, time and location to conduct an interview arranged.

Obtaining Informed Consent

Informed consent was obtained from participants using a letter of information / consent form (see Appendix A) as approved by HREB. The letter was written at a Flesch Kincaid Grade Level of 8.6. The letter included details on the study purpose, data collection procedures, and expected time commitments. Information was outlined regarding the potential benefits and risks of the program evaluation. In addition, the letter made it clear that stakeholders were not obligated to participate in the study and/or could withdraw at anytime without consequence. Contact information for a university representative (who was not involved in the study in any capacity) was given indicating that this individual could be contacted should concerns arise about the study.

33

The Sample

The actual number of participants successfully recruited was seven out of a seven. An eighth stakeholder initially met the inclusion criteria, but by the time the study received ethical approval he/she had left the program. The demographic characteristics of the participants included in the study are summarized in Table 4.

Characteristic			# of	Participa	nts	
Gender Male Female			5 2			
Position with Program Occupationa Physical the Custom sea Medical Equ	al therapist rapist ting technici		1 1 2 3			
Education / Experienc Graduate de Bachelor de Technical di On the job tr based works	gree gree oloma aining comb	bined with sl	1 2 1 (ill 3			
Time with Program 5 months 7 months 5 years 6 years 8 years			1 1 1 2 2			

34

Table 4. Characteristics of Study Participants

Overview of Data Collection Methods

Qualitative methods were used in this study. Data collection involved a simple paper and pencil questionnaire and an interview. The questionnaire data were collated and used as the focus of the subsequent interviews. The interviews were used to gain insight on the program processes.

Questionnaire Format & Procedures

The questionnaire (see Appendix B) used an open-ended question format and was designed to take approximately ten minutes to complete. The questionnaire was intended to identify program outcome perceived by stakeholders as needing improvement. On the questionnaire the following question was asked:

Please name and briefly describe 3 program outcomes for the seating program that you think are important and which could use improvement.

All seven stakeholders received a questionnaire at the time of recruitment. All questionnaires were completed and returned to the researcher. The data from the questionnaires were collated and the most commonly reported program outcome was found. Working backward from this point, the

processes and structure that participants perceived as related to the program outcome were described.

Interview Format & Procedures

Qualitative interviews (see Appendix C for Interview Script) were conducted with each participant at a date, time, and location of his/her choice. On average the interviews lasted forty-five minutes. All interviews were tape recorded and later transcribed. The interviews followed a semi-structured design with open-ended questions. The interview questions were pilot tested with a colleague and revised to improve question clarity and interview flow.

The interviews consisted of three parts: (1) introduction and demographic questions; (2) an exercise based on Donabedian's Structure-Process-Outcome Model; and (3) questions related to strengths and weaknesses of program processes. Part 1 of the interview included an introduction, verification of informed consent, and demographic questions. The demographic questions were asked early in the interview to engage the participant and to ease him/her into sharing his/her perspectives of the program processes.

Part 2 of the interview involved the completion of on exercise based on Donabedian's Structure-Process-Outcome Model. The exercise was used to gain insight into the program components and their relationship to one another. The steps of this exercise were first explained in detail to the participant. The exercise included the use of an exercise form (see Appendix D). During the interview the researcher completed the form based on participants' comments.

Part 3 of the interview included open-ended questions intended to elicit information about perceived strengths and weaknesses of the program processes. Each participant was asked a series of open-ended questions, given time to consider each question, and offer a response. Probe questions were used when necessary to elicit more information than was volunteered in the first reply (Sharma, 2004).

Interview Data Analysis

The interviews were tape recorded and then transcribed by a transcription typist. To verify transcript accuracy, the interview transcripts were compared to the audio tapes by the researcher. The audio tapes and transcripts are

37

now stored in a secure, locked filing cabinet at the University of Alberta, and will be kept for at least five years.

Interviewed data were analyzed using qualitative content analysis. This analysis process involved multiple interconnected phases, and the process was often cyclical. The phases of the data analysis process are listed here and illustrated in Table 5. First, the interview transcripts were read and re-read to obtain an overall impression of the data. Second, the data were reviewed and codes identified. Third, the codes were organized into clusters and then reviewed, revised, and re-organized, to ensure accuracy and completeness. These three phases were repeated until analysis of the data was exhausted, so that no new codes or clusters were identified. The study findings will be presented in the Chapter Four – Research Findings.

Phase	Example of Analysis				
Data Review	All seven interview transcripts were read and re-read.				
Coding	I try to get as much information as I can from the referral.				
Sample Codes: • referral form • information	Check what the client has had before, components that the client has had before, and then I use that to ligge it its commercial concursion.				
dimeat iccoment seating	The referral form is probably the most important part of determination which clinic approximation determination of the second seco				
devices					

38

Table 5. Sample Data Analysis

	Example of Analysis		
ustering	"Making a Clinical judgment"		
	Check what the client has had before, compositive the client has had before, and then I use that to second second .		
	The referral form is probably the most important part of an entry of the most important part of a second se		
	"The referral form"		
	The referral form is probably the most important part of other section of the sec		
	I try to get as much information as I can from the referral.		
	Memo #1: Clinical judgment is part of the screening process, and screening is related to intake		
	Memo #2: Referral form information is reviewed during screening and is the basis of clinical judgments		
	Visual Representation: The interrelationship between the		
	Visual Representation: The interrelationship between the		
	Visual Representation: The interrelationship between the clusters, processes and objective, as described by participants		
	Visual Representation: The interrelationship between the clusters, processes and objective, as described by participants Objective (e.g., Intake) Process:		
	Visual Representation: The interrelationship between the clusters, processes and objective, as described by participants Objective (e.g., Intake) Process: (e.g., screening)		
	Visual Representation: The interrelationship between the clusters, processes and objective, as described by participants Objective (e.g., Intake) Process: (e.g., screening)		

Table 5. Sample Data Analysis (continued)

Study Trustworthiness

To evaluate the trustworthiness of this program evaluation the Program Evaluation Standards developed by the Joint Committee on Standards for Education Evaluation (1994) were considered. These standards outlined four categories of program evaluation standards including: (1) utility, (2) feasibility, (3) propriety, and (4) accuracy. Steps taken to enhance each standard will be discussed below.

Utility

The utility of the program evaluation was enhanced through early collaboration with the seating program leader. This collaboration helped in the identification of an evaluation focus and assisted in the identification of program stakeholders. The research findings were reported to the program in a timely manner, in the form of oral presentation and a written document. In addition, the entire evaluation was over-seen by a team of researchers, who included an academic program evaluator with experience of clinical evaluations.

40

Feasibility

The primary researcher's knowledge of the program's daily operations, politics, and time constraints helped make the evaluation feasible. Specifically, data collection methods (e.g., questionnaire, interview) were selected that kept time commitments to a minimum and ensured each participant had opportunity to anonymously share his/her perspectives. Fair and equitable treatment was given to the subset of stakeholders included in the study, and both common and uncommon perspectives were reported in the evaluation findings.

Propriety

This program evaluation obtained ethical approval from HREB at the University of Alberta. Issues of informed consent, conflict of interest, and human rights were examined by the HREB and approved for this study. This evaluation offered a complete and fair assessment so that strengths and weaknesses of the seating program were examined.

Accuracy

To improve evaluation accuracy, the seating program involved was described in detail. Furthermore, the purpose, data collection procedures, and analysis procedures are clearly reported for this evaluation and provide sufficient detail

to allow the evaluation to be recreated. Data analysis procedures are explained in depth so data interpretation can be understood, and the trustworthiness of the research findings is apparent.

Summary

This program process evaluation used qualitative methods. Data were collected using a simple paper and pencil questionnaire and an interview. The data from the questionnaire were collated and used to guide subsequent interviews. The interviews incorporated the Donabedian Structure-Process-Outcome Model and open-ended questions related to the strengths and weaknesses of the program processes. Interview data were analyzed using qualitative content analysis. The findings of this evaluation will be reported in Chapter Four – Research Findings.

Research Findings

This program evaluation explored the perspectives of a subset of program stakeholders related to the seating program structure, processes, and outcomes. The findings for this study are presented in three parts: (1) the program outcomes viewed by participants as important and as needing improvement; (2) the relationship between program structure, processes and outcomes; and (3) the participants' perspectives on the strengths and weaknesses of the program processes.

(1) Program Outcomes Viewed by Participants as Important and as Needing Improvement

The findings showed five areas in which program outcomes were important and could be improved. In rank order from most reported to least reported these areas are: (1) intake, (2) intervention, (3) follow-up, (4) assessment, and (5) the overall program. Seven out of seven participants reported outcomes related to 'intake' as needing improvement. For participants 'intake' included:

43

"... the *referral* itself ..."

"Getting clients into the clinics"

"... screening of clients... "

The perspectives of the participants were amalgamated and found to describe a specific target or objective for the program, rather than a program outcome. This objective was a: "Client is assigned to the appropriate clinic (commercial or custom) and is assessed in a timely manner". This objective was the starting point for further exploration of the program.

(2) The Relationship between Program Structure, Processes, and Outcomes

The Donabedian Structure-Process-Outcome Model (1988) was used as a framework for discussion of intake - the area unanimously reported to need improvement. Working backward from the objective, the related processes and structure were described and the projected relationships between components were established. The findings from the discussion are reported in Table 6. This table lists the human and non human resources and the processes that are involved in intake.

44

Program Area: Intake			
Program Structure	Program Processes	Program Outcomes	
 Non Human Resources: Referral form Method to deliver referral form to program (i.e., fax, mail, drop slot) Method to receive referral form (i.e., fax, mail, drop 	 <u>Referral Processes:</u> 1. Referral agent recognizes a need for a client to be referred to seating program 2. Referral form is filled out by referral agent 3. Referral form is faxed, 	Intake Objective: Client is assigned to the appropriate clinic	
slot) - Seating program office space - Communication devices	 Seating program by referral agent Screening Processes: 	(commercial or custom) and is assessed in a timely mannel	
(i.e., telephone, voicemail, and email) Seating program file, data base(s) and/ or spreadsheet(s)	 Referral is screened by the program occupational therapist or physical therapist 		
 Provincial tracking system for equipment Photographs of client (when available) 	 Program occupational therapist or physical therapist(s) collects additional information as needed from alternative 		
<u>Human Resources:</u> Referral agents Seating Program Occupational Therapist Seating Program Physical Therapist Custom Seating Technician Medical Equipment Supplier	sources 3. Program therapist formulates a clinical judgment to assign the client to either a commercial or custom seating clinic a. If client is assigned to a commercial clinic, he/she is assigned to the medical		
Seating Program Administrative Assistant Seating Program Relief Staff Provincial Government Funding Program Representative	equipment supplier of his/her choice <u>Prioritization Processes</u> 1. Client is prioritized according to date referral received or another method		

Table 6. Seating Program Structure, Processes, and Outcomes

(3) Strengths and Weaknesses of Intake Processes

After identifying the connections between the program components, participants discussed their perspectives on the strengths and weaknesses of the intake processes. The processes that occurred when working toward the program objective were: (A) referral, (B) screening, and (C) prioritization. These three processes were felt to fluctuate along a continuum between effective and ineffective. This continuum is represented as a seesaw. A process can sit centrally on the seesaw representing neutrality, or it may move along the seesaw depending on the impacting factors. For example, if many positive factors influence the process it will move toward the end representing effective process (see Figure 1). Conversely, if many negative factors influence the process it will move to the end representing ineffective process (see Figure 2).



46

Figure 1. The Result of Positive Factors on the Intake Process.



The seesaw will be used to illustrate how a variety of factors can influence the: (A) referral process, (B) screening process, and (C) prioritization process.

A. The Referral Process

A number of factors were said to influence the referral process. These can be grouped as: (i) factors relating to the referral form and (ii) factors pertaining to the characteristics of the referral agent.

Ai. Factors relating to the referral form

The referral form is a two page document that is completed by the referral agent and submitted to the program as a method of requesting services. This form provides crucial information on which the program judges

whether to assign the client to a commercial or a custom clinic.

Participants thought that revisions to the referral form could increase its

effectiveness.

I think the referral form has a lot of good qualities, and maybe needs to be fine tuned ...

Basically, we need updated referral forms ... I think if referral forms are filled out properly and updated then that would help resolve a lot of the issues down the line with the process to do with screening and prioritization and allocation and all of that. I think improvement would start there.

Participants suggested that the items included in the form should be

changed, so that more useful items are emphasized and extraneous

sections are removed. One participant said:

I believe the form should be up to date, readable, have information that needs to be on it and not extraneous information ...

Another participant also reported concern with the redundant information

requested on the referral form.

The form asks for the client's weight, but it is always re-checked at the clinic appointment anyway, and there's a spot for a physician's signature but it is not really needed ...sometimes I wonder how much time is spent trying to sort out unnecessary information

Participants felt that the referral form was too time consuming to complete.

"All therapists are very busy, so to fill out a two-page form and to check the [equipment status] and to [get] all the background information, probably takes quite a bit of time. Doing seating for a lot of referring therapists is extra work on top of what they are already doing..."

The findings suggest that the less useful sections and redundant information should be removed from the referral form. The consequence of removing sections would be a reduction in the length of the form, which participants felt would speed completion of the remaining sections. Table 7 lists the referral form sections and those that participants thought were more and less useful.

Referral Form Sections	More Useful	Less Useful
1. Demographic & Contact Information	X	
2. Medical Status	X	
 E.g., diagnosis, prognosis, medications 		
3. Funding Status		X
4. Seating Concerns	X	
5. Positioning		X
 E.g., time spent in wheelchair, affect of positioning on function 		
6. Activities of Daily Living		Х
 E.g., communication method, transfers, mobility 		<u>.</u>
7. Seating Status	X	:
 E.g., current seating device(s) and date received, seating device(s) trialed 		: : :
8. Wheelchair and Base Status	X	
- E.g., current mobility device(s), including		
dimensions and condition		
9. Preferred Medical Equipment Supplier	X	
I0. Physician's Signature		X

Table 7. Referral Form Sections

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Currently photographs of clients are not required as part of the referral; however, participants agreed that photographs were helpful as they provided a visual impression of the client's seating needs. The value of photographs is described in these statements:

If the client can not be in front of you, then having a picture is the next best thing...

I noticed in the past some referrals actually had photographs or snapshots [attached] and that was a big help to determine which clinic the client needed

None-the-less participants realized that it may be impractical to require photographs as referral agents may not always have access to cameras.

Participants also thought only original copies or clear and legible photocopies of the referral form should be used to ensure clarity and accuracy.

Aii. Factors pertaining to the characteristics of the referral agent

The referral agent is the individual who submits the referral form to the seating program. The seating program accepts referral forms from: (1)

clinicians (i.e., occupational therapists, physical therapists, or nurses) from home care, long term care, or acute care; (2) physicians, (3) family members, (4) caregivers, and (5) clients. Participants reported that different referral agents provide varied referral information, as explained in these statements:

It doesn't work well if the referral form is not filled in by a therapist. ... sometimes clients don't have a therapist working with them, [and then] we get a doctor referring a client to the seating clinic. In that case we don't get good information. Sometimes a client will fill out the referral form himself, and in that case we don't get good information The opposite is true for what works well. If the therapist fills in the form and if a therapist has been working with the client for a long time, that also helps because the therapist would be aware of has what's going on with the client...

Unfortunately all the referring therapists don't have as much knowledge as we would like them to have. I feel that at times, if the therapists had a little more knowledge, they would have realized what the client needs ...

Table 8 lists the characteristics of an ideal referral agent as described by the participants. It was felt that the referral process would be improved if

51

the majority of referral agents possessed these characteristics.

Characteristics of an Ideal Referral Agent
Therapy background (i.e., professional training in occupational therapy or physical therapy)
"The form is actually designed for a therapist to fill, because it has technical questions that only a therapist will be able to fill out"
General understanding and knowledge of seating devices and wheelchairs
"I'd say that the therapists that are referring are quite knowledgeablein general are quite knowledgeable about the seating, and that's important"
Knowledge and experience needed to identify seating and mobility concerns
"They're going to have to identify the needand use their own expertise as a therapist to try and get a rough idea whether [clients] need to come to our clinic or not. "
Familiarity with the seating program including the services offered and is able to complete the entire referral form.
"If we look at who is referring and how well the referral has been filled. If it's not filled well, then that's going to be a problem for us."
"If a referral could be filled by a therapist, and not just being filled by a therapist, but actually [one who] takes time to fill the referralthat would help."

Table 8. Characteristics of an Ideal Referral Agent

In summary, the referral process may be influenced by factors related to

the referral form and/or the characteristics of the referral agent.

Depending on the influence of these factors, the referral process may shift

52

its position on the continuum (see Figure 3 and 4).





B. The Screening Process

Screening was described by participants as the process of reviewing referral information and making a clinical judgment to assign a client to a

commercial or a custom clinic. Participants made the following

comments about the screening process:

The *information on the referral form* is the most important factor in the screening process.

Choosing the appropriate type of clinic should be easy with **correct referral information** provided.

The *ideal screening process* is when the client is right in front of you... then the more remote you get the harder it can be.

Screening errors were described as the assignment of clients to the wrong

clinic and this was a major concern for the program. Participants

described the consequence of screening errors as inefficient use of

program services, increased wait times, and inconvenience for clients, as

expressed in this comment:

If a client is seen in [commercial clinic] and we decide at the clinic that this should be custom, then we'll bring the client back to a custom clinic....When we consider the client's comfort... of having to come in twice, it might not be too nice for the client, and that is not time saving, because we might [have] seen another client at that time, but instead we've seen that same client again.

In a case where the client needs both commercial and custom clinic then there is nothing we can do about it. We just have to go that way, but if it's entirely a custom need and we see the client in commercial clinic, the [error] could have been easily solved if the referral form was well done.

If we see the client at a custom clinic and we decide that no this [client] should have gone to commercial... in that case, it was not as bad in the sense that we can talk to the [medical equipment supplier] to say okay try to go to this clients home and trial this particular back on this client. And if it works out well, then if a

54

therapist is also available to really see that it's working well...then you don't have to see the client in clinic again.

It's better for a client to come to custom and maybe get commercial eventually, then for clients to go to commercial and then get custom later

The screening process was stated to be influenced by a number of factors. These can be grouped as: (i) factors concerning the composition of the seating team, (ii) factors regarding the accuracy of the referral information, and (iii) factors pertaining to 'the screener' and his/her clinical judgment.

Bi. Factors concerning the composition of the seating team

Commercial and custom clinics involve different seating team members. Specifically, a medical equipment supplier is present at the former, and the custom seating technician at the latter. One participant commented: "the only missing piece is the technician; the therapists are there [at both]". A combined clinic, involving both the medical equipment supplier and the custom seating technician, was suggested as a solution to screening errors:

"If you weren't screening for commercial or custom, perhaps if we had combined clinics, then the decision (for commercial or custom seating) wouldn't have to be made until the person started into clinic."

However, the participants reported that combined clinics may not feasible for the program due to staffing and funding restrictions.

Bii. Factors regarding the accuracy of referral information

Participants repeatedly indicated that accurate and complete referral

information was crucial in the screening process. The findings show that

good information is required to make an informed clinical judgment.

Statements from two participants sum up this feeling:

What makes a good referral is good information, and the opposite is true for what makes a bad referral ... when the information is not there.

It's easier for the therapists to determine the type of clinic when the form is [fully] completed and there is a lot of information on there. When it's not completed well, there are a lot of gaps in it. That's when we have to phone back and get more clarification ...

Participants noted that it was common to receive incomplete or inaccurate

referral forms and this was a major concern for the program. Participants

reported that an incomplete referral form had information omissions and/or

blank sections.

Well there has been a lot of referrals that weren't filled out correctly, or were left blank, fifty percent blank ... it's a lack of information.

...without the referral information, [the screener is] trying to just do their own interpretation and fill in the blanks and you can't always fill them in correctly...

Inaccurate referral information was another challenge encountered during screening.

For every referral I take time to check [seating status] ... and I find out that most of the dates [for when seating devices were received] are wrong.

In some instance, participants noted that referrals contained 'grey areas' -

information that was provided but had potential to be misinterpreted. Grey

areas were reported to be difficult to overcome.

Sometimes for example, ... [referral agents] just write down back with laterals and that's true, but really its a personal back plus, so although it seems that it is a custom back, its really not ... and the client gets booked for the wrong clinic

I would say that the problem is with knowing which clinic to assign the client to... even if the form is really well filled out ... because we have not seen the client we believe what is written down, and there are grey areas we can't do anything about

Participants felt concerned that extra time and resources were spent

collecting missing information and confirming the accuracy of information.

Lack of information and contacting referring therapists would be a delay. Because you have to call them and you might have to wait for a call back. If the therapists are working shorter than five days a week, then it is more of a time delay. It is difficult because actual working days or calendar days are going by ...

Missing referral information was typically obtained through discussion with the referral agent or seating team members, or by reviewing files and database information, which made screening less efficient. One participant suggested that the onus to provide the referral information should fall on the referral agent, and the program should not seek out the missing information, and instead should return incomplete form to the referral agent.

In summary, participants felt screening would be expedited if the referral information was complete and accurate so that less time was spent straightening out information. In addition, participants reported that having accurate referral information would allow the program to make informed clinical judgments.

Biii. Factors pertaining to the screener and his / her clinical judgment The findings indicate it is the screener who reviews and interprets the referral information. The screener determines if the information is accurate and complete and decides if enough information is provided to make a clinical judgment. Ultimately, the screener makes a judgment based on the known information:

58

I just use my clinical judgment to put them in the type of clinic I think is best, based on the information I have.

I just use my judgment. If I call a therapist and I don't get a response back and it's taking awhile, because the referral will just be sitting down there, it will not be booked. So in that case, I just use my judgment to put them into whichever clinic.

The question is: What information does the screener need to have to be able to judge if the client should be assigned to a commercial or a custom clinic? According to one participant the answer was:

There is some [specific] information that helps... the first one is, what the problem is ... when the therapist can tell that the client is leaning so much a commercial back is not supporting the client, then we know this is a custom [need]. And then also the seating components that the client had before helps to know what type of clinic to put them into.

Therefore, in order to make an informed judgment the screener needs to know whether the client has a custom or commercial seating device(s), the specific model of device(s), and the seating concern.

Participants reported that no screening standards were used in the program; however, they did describe the clinical rationale used to assign clients to commercial or custom clinic (see Table 9). The clients who had commercial seating devices or commercial and custom seating devices

were perceived to be the most challenging to assign to the appropriate clinic.

Table 9. Clinical Rationale used in Screening

Type of Client	Typical Clinic Assignment	Clinical Rationale for Clinic Assignment
 Clients with no seating device 	Commercial	Commercial seating devices would be trialed prior to custom seating devices
2. Client with commercial seating device(s)	Commercial or custom	The model and type of commercial device the nature of the seating concern are considered as the client may require either commercial or custom clinic
3. Clients with custom seating device(s)	Custom	Clients who have custom seating devices generally always require custom because their seating needs rarely improve
 Client with commercial and custom seating devices 	Commercial and/or custom	Client may require commercial and/or custom seating clinic depending on the seating concern

Relying on the screener's clinical judgment to assign clients to clinic created apprehension for some participants. One participant reported uncertainty with making clinical judgments:

Looking at the form, deciding whether it should be commercial or custom is a very difficult decision. Perhaps if there where a guideline or a flowchart, then it would be easier to do and you could just be flown along to the most efficient outcome. I think there should be standards or a flowchart that would guide whoever is doing the screening to help make the decisions, because it's not a standardized procedure ...

The need for clear standards or guidelines was confirmed by another

participant:

I was asked to screen and decide if it was a commercial or custom need, but there are no standards that I've ever seen to follow to help make this decision...

In the absence of screening standards or guidelines, the screener is the

tool used in the screening process. The screener's experience,

educational background, and knowledge were felt to have favorable or

adverse effects on the screening process. The characteristics of an ideal

61

screener as described by participants are listed in Table 10.
Table 10. Characteristics of an Ideal Screener

1.61	ble 10. Characteristics of an ideal Screener
1.	Experience and knowledge with commercial and custom seating
	"Whoever is doing the screening should have the expertise, which whether it be overtime or just whatever knowledge they have, to help them interpret information once you got all the information".
	"You need to know all the products out there and their limitations. And that is not going to happen over night and the limitations of custom as well."
	"I think with the screening that's where experience comes in. I think it's very important if we have somebody that's got a lot of experience in seating, it's easier for them to determine which clinic to go into. Where if it's somebody that doesn't have the experience it's rather hard for them".
2.	Screens referrals consistently and frequently
	"Consistency helps with expertise, when you have therapists who are quitting all the timeor relief therapists, then that just slows down that whole process".
3.	Has dedicated time to do screening
	"I'm not sure how the time for screening is built into the therapist's time it should be a task that is done on a regular basis".
	2.

In summary, screening may be influenced by factors related to the

composition of the seating team, the accuracy of the referral information,

and/or the screener. Depending on the influence of these factors

screening will shift its position on the continuum (see Figure 5 and 6).



C. Prioritization Process

Participants reported no knowledge of prioritization criteria used in this

seating program; except that clients were booked chronologically by the

date referrals were received. Participants expressed their concern with

the lack of prioritization:

I'm not sure if there is any prioritization given to anyone to do with complexity or anything. As far as I know there isn't. And I've seen some pretty severe people that are waiting for months at a time to get in.

I'm not sure how [clients] are prioritized. If it's first come first serve, or if there's even a process that if you've been waiting longer you get served first? ... are we aware of what priority means? Do you focus on skin and swallowing [issues], because that's more of a medical urgency? I doubt if that happens"

One participant reported that although no prioritization standards existed

in the program, he/she gave priority to clients with skin breakdown (e.g., a

pressure ulcer):

If from the referral there is an issue with skin breakdown and the therapist requests it to be urgent. Sometimes there might be skin breakdown and there might not be an urgent need because the client may be hospitalized, or the client is already on the most pressure relieving cushion. So in that case I don't see it as being urgent.

Participants also reported that clients were frequently given priority when

the referral agent asked, as illustrated in this statement:

"If there is a special request from the [referral agent] that this should be an urgent case, then we make it urgent and we put the client in for the next available booking"

Participants reported this was not a good reason to prioritize a referral, yet it commonly happened.

In summary, the lack of prioritization was perceived as a weakness and the participants reported that the use of standards would help give precedence to those who needed it. Figures 7 and 8 illustrate the prioritization process on the continuum.





Figure 8. An Ineffective Prioritization Process.

Summary

The findings of the study showed that participants were aware that the assignment of clients to the appropriate clinic was important and that the timeliness of assignment and assessment was in need of improvement. The findings have given an account of participants' perceptions of the factors that impact processes and the achievement of the 'intake' objective. Chapter 5 – Discussion will explore recommendations to maximize strengths and overcome weaknesses in the intake processes.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Discussion

This study focused on participants' perspectives on the structure, processes, and outcomes of a seating program. An important objective for the seating program was a: "Client is assigned to the appropriate clinic (commercial or custom) and is assessed in a timely manner". The processes related to this objective were referral, screening, and prioritization. These processes were said to fluctuate along a continuum between effective and ineffective depending on the impacting factors. This study enriches our understanding of the intake processes of a seating program, and leads to suggestions for how to maximize strengths and how to overcome weaknesses.

Literature about seating programs and their processes is limited. However, information on referrals, screening, and prioritization in healthcare is available.

Maximizing Strengths and Overcoming Weaknesses

The development and implementation of a protocol would be one option to maximize strengths and overcome weaknesses in the intake processes.

Information from this evaluation and the literature could be used as the foundation for this protocol. The protocol should address the referral, screening, and prioritization processes while describing in detail the (a) referral form, (b) referral agent, (c) screening guidelines, (d) screener, and (e) the prioritization standards.

The Referral Form

A referral form is a link between the program, the referral agent, and the client (Jarret, 2004). In this study, the participants talked about the referral form and its content. The literature indicates that the form's content, design, and language level should be considered.

Form Content

Seating, rehabilitation, and medical programs use referral forms or referral letters as a method to request service. Referral forms commonly include sections on demographics, medical status, and reason for referral (Botting, 2003; Dunford et al., 2004; Makepeace et al., 2001; Reeder et al., 2004; Syed & Large 2003). A number of programs report that the later two sections are particularly useful and this agreed with the findings of this study.

Specifics on seating referrals were not described in the literature, and little was reported about seating status, wheelchair and base status, or preferred medical equipment supplier. A single report from McCuaig and Sebesta (2002) suggests that having information about seating and wheelchair status is helpful when reviewing seating referrals.

For certain etiologies photographs can reveal information about the problem. For example, photographs of pressure ulcers (Halsted et al. 2003; Houghton et al., 2000) and trauma injuries (Buntic et al., 1997) are useful sources of preliminary information when an assessment of the actual wound is not possible. Photographs may offer a similar benefit to seating by giving preliminary impressions of a client's seating needs.

Form Design

Research has shown that highly structured forms that use sections, headings, and/or checklists enhance the collection of specific health information (Cannon & Allen, 2000; Harrop & Amegavie, 2005; Humphreys et al., 1992; Schriger et al., 2000). In addition, paper forms that incorporate instructions and electronic forms that include real-time prompts (e.g., pop-up messages) tend to collect more complete information (Cannon & Allen, 2000; Ehrenberg & Birgersson, 2003;

Schriger et al., 2000). According to Wizowski et al. (2002) and Osborn (2005) the most effective forms use consistent fonts, spacing, shading, formatting, and alignments, as well as, logical sequences of information (e.g., from general to specific or most important to least important).

Form Language Level

The language level of a form should be tailored to the target audience (e.g., form users). For example, it may be appropriate to use medical and technical terminology on a referral form designed for clinicians; however, a form designed for clients should use simple, conversational language (Wizowski et al., 2002). Regardless of language level, it is helpful to give examples, definitions, and contexts for the information on a form (Osborne, 2005; Wizowski et al, 2002).

Sample Referral Form

The seating program may benefit from creating a paper or electronic referral form that incorporates the design and language elements described above. The form should include the sections that participants thought were most useful and should provide examples, definitions, and instructions. Figure 9 displays an example of a referral form.

Figure 9. Sample Referral Form

	Seating Program Address, Phone, Fax
Client Information Instructions for this section Name	
Date of Birth	
Health Number	
Address	
Home Phone	
Medical Status Instructions for this section	
Diagnosis	
Photographs Instructions for this section	
Seating Concerns / Reason f Instructions for this section	or Referral
Type of Concern	Description of Concern
Pressure ulcer / reddened area	
Eating / feeding / swallowing	
Safety	
Discomfort	
Positioning	
Mobility	
Growth / Fit	
Other	

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 9. Sample Referr	al Form (continued)	
Seating Status Instructions for this section		
Comme	rcial Seating (definition	
Current Seating Device (e.g., back, cushion, etc.)	Date Received	Concern(s) with Seating Device
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Custo	m Seating (definition an	d examples)
Current Seating Device (e.g., back, cushion, etc.)	Date Received	Concern(s) with Seating Device
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Wheelchair and Base Sta Instructions for this section		
	Manual Wheelchair	Power Wheelchair
Model		
Frame Width		
Frame Depth Date Received		
Concern(s) with wheelchair	<u> </u>	
Preferred Medical Equipn Instructions for this section	nent Supplier	
Supplier #1	Supplier #2	Supplier #3
Referral Agent Information Instructions for this section	n	
Name		
Phone		
Date Referred		

The Referral Agent

The referral agent plays an important role in the referral process and his/her educational background, knowledge / experience, and familiarity with the program may have favorable or adverse effects on the referral process (Booting, 2003; Bowles, 2002; Dunford et al., 2004; Lard et al., 2001; Makepeace et al., 2001; Mensah, 2004; Nash, 1992; Reeder et al., 2004; Syed & Large, 2003). The intake protocol should outline who can act as referral agents and how referral agents will be educated about the program.

Who Can Act as a Referral Agent

To guarantee referral agents have the desired educational background restrictions can be placed on those who can act as referral agents (Dunford et al., 2004; Nash, 1992). Such a restriction can be beneficial and problematic. One benefit is that restriction requires a client to receive an assessment by the referral agent which is likely to identify concerns that need attention. Some concerns may warrant a referral to a program while others may be addressed by the professional themselves outside of the program (Dunford et al., 2004; Nash, 1992). Another benefit is that assessment by a referral agent helps to reduce the number of inappropriate referrals and this frees up the program to serve those clients

who need it most (Dunford et al., 2004; Nash, 1992). Finally, the referral agent is more likely than the client (Nash, 1992) or another professional (Dunford et al., 2004) to provide the pertinent referral information. One drawback is this professional becomes the gatekeeper to the program and this limits access for some clients (Nash, 1992).

In would appear that referral agents for the seating program should be restricted to occupational therapists or physical therapists who can provide the technical information (e.g., seating status) requested on the referral. In addition, the seating program could require occupational therapists and physical therapists to complete a specific education workshop as a means of accrediting referral agents.

Referrals from clients, families, or physicians should not be accepted. Instead, the seating program should redirect clients to occupational therapists or physical therapists in community or long term care. Redirecting clients could enable therapists to identify additional health issues that require attention and may improve the referral information sent to the program. As a result the seating program should spend less time clarifying referral information which reduces the waiting times for clients.

74

Education and Resources for the Referral Agent

The intake protocol should include referral guidelines that address information to be included on the referral, the services provided by the program, and the acceptable reasons for referral (Botting, 2003). These guidelines should be disseminated to referral agents by multiple methods (Hergenroeder et al., 2001; Idiculla et al., 2000; Sibbald, 2003) such as practical education workshops, brief information sessions, and written materials.

A half day, practical workshop could be organized for therapists with the aim of increasing their knowledge of seating and familiarity with the referral guidelines. The workshops might include a demonstration of a pre-referral assessment, followed by a series of work stations where the therapists would complete pre-referral assessments and referral forms with a variety of clients. The workshops could be offered at regular intervals (e.g., once every six months), and video recordings of the workshops made available to referral agents at all times. These workshops could be designated as the education for therapists who want to refer to the program.

75

Another option for disseminating the referral guidelines would be offering different lunch and learn sessions each month. These sessions would give a thirty minute overview of specific topics (e.g., services offered by the program or how to complete the referral form). Information in these sessions would be supported by written materials such as 'enablers'. Enablers are simple, precise summaries of the important information. Use of enablers is an effective method to reinforce learning and translate new knowledge into clinical practice (Sibbald et al., 1999). Enablers for the referral protocol could be posters or quick reference guides (see Figures 10 and 11). These enablers could be provided during workshops or information sessions, posted at work sites, attached to the referral forms, or presented on a web page.

Figure 10. Sample Enabl	ler	ıab	En	ple	Sam	0.	1	re	gu	Fi
-------------------------	-----	-----	----	-----	-----	----	---	----	----	----

1
5
÷.,
-

76

	Things You Need to Know about the Seating Program				
Who	e.g., who can refer clients to the program and why is this restriction in place; who should attend seating clinic appointments, and who are the staff who work in the program				
What	e.g., what services are provided by the program, including a description of the commercial and custom seating clinics, and what services are not provided by the seating program				
When	e.g., when are seating clinics conducted				
Where	e.g., where are clinics located, directions to the clinics				
Why	e.g., why should a client be referred to the program, including a list of acceptable reasons for referral				
How	e.g., how to access the program, including a description of the referral form to be used, where to get the referral form and explanations of the information requested on a referral form				

Screening Algorithm

The intake protocol for the program should include a visual representation that shows the decision process of client screening and then assignment to each type of clinic. This information could be summarized in a decision tree or algorithm as shown in Figure 12. The use of an algorithm would promote consistency in the screening process.

77



Figure 12. Sample Algorithm for Screening Guidelines

When screening referrals, participants considered the type of seating device used and the client's seating concerns. However, participants noted that it was not always easy to assign a client to a commercial or custom clinic. Therefore, the addition of a third type of clinic - a combined commercial and custom seating clinic – was suggested.

The use of a combined seating clinics is harmonious with 'matching' - the preferred method of seating device selection (Cook & Hussey, 2002; Hobson, 1990; Johnson Taylor, 1987; Minkel 2003; Pratt, 2003; Presperin; 1989). 'Matching' involves the generation of a client profile based on assessment findings. This profile summarizes the concerns or needs to be addressed by the seating system and is used to 'match' the seating device characteristics to the client's needs (e.g., lateral trunk support). The result of 'matching' is the provision of the actual seating devices that will best suit the client. Combined seating clinics are a good option for some clients who use commercial seating devices or hybrid seating systems.

The Screener

Within the context of the screening guidelines the screener will review and interpret the referral information and so having an experienced and consistent screener is important. Research has shown that an experienced therapist is better able to adjust his/her clinical reasoning process and to consider familiar and unfamiliar factors. (Embrey et al., 1996; Gibson et al., 2004). This suggests that an experienced occupational therapist or physical therapist would be better able to

interpret familiar and unfamiliar referral information within the context of the screening guidelines.

Prioritization Standards

The lack of prioritization in the program was perceived as a weakness and participants believed prioritization standards would enable them to give precedence to those clients who needed to be seen quickly. However, participants did not elaborate on the types of information they would use to prioritize clients.

McCuaig & Sebesta (2002) developed the 'Waitlist Scoring Guidelines' to prioritize seating referrals. This instrument examines seven areas of dysfunction, namely: pressure ulcers, falls, equipment status, eating, independent mobility, dependent mobility and health changes. Each area of dysfunction is given an individual score and the total score is used to assign priority. The higher the total score, the higher the priority.

Testing of the 'Waitlist Scoring Guidelines' found disagreement between the total scores for priority and the therapists' clinical impression of priority. McCuaig and Sebesta (2002) reported that the tool is not useful

80

as stand-alone assessment of priority, but serves well as a guide to the areas of dysfunction to be considered when assigning priority to clients with seating concerns. This report indicates that research would be helpful to shed light on the tacit reasoning used by therapists in the prioritization process.

Prioritization methods used by different professionals are described in the literature. For example, occupational therapists prioritize concerns according to the degree of occupational dysfunction - the inability to perform or accomplish a task in the normal or accepted way (Townsend, 1997). Reed and Sanderson (1992) suggest that occupational therapists should prioritize occupational dysfunctions related to self care; leisure; productivity; and the environment (i.e., physical, social, institutional, and/or cultural context of a task). Travers et al. (2002) report that nurses prioritize issues according to the level of medical acuity (i.e., the severity or risk associated with a medical concern).

The study participants did not talk about the specific types of information they would use to set priorities in the program. Rather, they gave a general indication that information about seating concerns and diagnosis

81

was useful (see Table 7) and said little about the value of information about the client's environment.

The seating program might want to re-consider the utility of information about the environment for prioritization purposes. Having this information would allow seating concerns to be prioritized in terms of medical acuity and occupational dysfunctions related to self care, leisure, productivity, and the environment. For example, clients with issues related to medical acuity (e.g. pressure ulcers) or safety (e.g., issues related to the client's living environment) would be given first priority; clients with significant occupational dysfunction (e.g. immobility) would be considered medium priority; and clients who require routine care or adjustments would be considered low priority. Table 11 describes seating concerns that might be considered a high, medium, or low priority and gives examples of each.

Priority	Description	Example of Seating Concerns			
High	Issues related to medical acuity or safety	Pressure ulcer or reddened area Eating / feeding / swallowing Safety / Environmental Issues			
Medium	Issues related to occupational dysfunction	Discomfort Positioning Mobility Motor Control			
Low	Routine Care	Size of seating / growth / routine adjustments			

Table 11. Level of Priority for Seating Conc	erns
--	------

Methodological Concerns

The Program Evaluation Standards developed by the Joint Committee on Standards for Education Evaluation (1994) were used to strengthen trustworthiness in the study reported in this thesis. Specific issues related to trustworthiness are identified here.

Issues Related to Utility

A purposeful sample of seating therapists and seating technicians was chosen for their important, rich and differing experiences with the program. This subset of stakeholders served the purpose of this evaluation; however, research including other stakeholders has potential to expand what is known about seating programs. For example, clients and family members will have opinions about their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the program, and referral agents will have experiences of referring to and working with the program.

The utility of research findings can be influenced by the study design. For this study a program evaluation approach was chosen. This approach was appropriate because few well designed studies existed on the topic and more information about program evaluation is desirable (Letts & Dunal, 1995). Qualitative research methods were used because little was

83

known about the seating programs or their operations. These methods were appropriate for gathering in-depth information, assigning meaning, and developing an understanding of the seating programs (Blumenthal & DiClemente, 2004). A formative process evaluation was chosen to fit with the research questions. This approach gave an understanding of the program operations to help build on strengths and modify areas of weakness.

Issues Related to Feasibility

Approximately four months after data collection an overview of the evaluation findings was reported to the chairperson of the facility's research and design committee and to the seating program leader. Eight months after that a complete written evaluation report was forwarded to the chairperson of the research and design committee. In addition, an offer was extended to the program to give a more comprehensive talk to the program employees, program leader, chairperson of the research and design committee, and representatives from the facility's administrative staff.

The program has initiated changes to its intake processes. These changes suggest that this program evaluation revealed information that was important, useful, and practical for the program to know. To date the program has

developed and circulated a revised referral form and is working toward offering combined seating clinics.

Issues Related to Accuracy

This study involved an evaluator who had experience with the program as a casual employee and as a referral agent. Prior to commencing data collection, the evaluator acknowledged and recorded biases; she then regularly checked and verified biases during data analysis. In the end, member checking and analysis audits ensured that the research findings were representative of the participants' perspectives.

Limitations of this Study

This study involved a seating program that is managed in part by the administration of a long term care facility and by the provincial government. Consequently, the participants' perspectives may have been influence by an awareness of the pressures felt by administration to shorten the waitlist, sustain fiscal viability, and meet the expectations the provincial government.

The primary researcher in this study was an occupational therapist who had worked for and acted as a referral agent to this program. This meant the evaluator had internal knowledge of the program and this brought benefits and challenges to this study. One benefit was that the participants were acquainted with the evaluator and this eased communication between the evaluator and the participants. Another benefit was that familiarity with the program and its context facilitated a clearer understanding of the data collected. One challenge was the evaluator's internal knowledge of the program lead to a potential for bias. An audit trail and member checking were used to minimize the bias and helped to ensure the findings were representative of the participants' perspectives.

Directions for Future Research

The body of knowledge on seating programs is currently small and more research is needed to expand what is known. Information and understanding about seating programs could be enhanced through a number of approaches. First, research involving other stakeholders (i.e., referral agents, clients, funding agents, etc.) would bring depth to what is know about seating programs. Second, the development and validation of screening guidelines for commercial versus custom versus combined seating would be valuable in order to more effectively and efficiently judge the type of seating needed by a client. Third, research on occupational dysfunctions experienced by seating and wheelchair users should be

86

conducted to determine the type of client and/or the type of dysfunction that should be given the highest priority for seating assessment and intervention. Fourth, investigation into the tacit reasoning associated with the prioritization of seating concerns should be carried out to better inform the precedence for clinic appointments. Fifth, research about the processes and outcomes of seating programs related to assessment, intervention, and follow-up should be considered to expand the understanding of seating programs, their processes, and outcomes.

Summary of Findings and Recommendations

This chapter presents an overview of the evaluation findings and recommendations (see Tables 12, 13, 14). Figure 13 is an algorithm that outlines the steps of the intake protocol from the referral process through to the prioritization process.

Program Structure	Program Processes	Program Outcomes
 Non Human Resources: Referral form Method to deliver referral form to program (i.e., fax, mail, drop slot) Method to receive referral form (i.e., fax, mail, drop slot) Seating program office 	 <u>Referral Processes:</u> 4. Referral agent recognizes a need for a client to be referred to seating program 5. Referral form is filled out by referral agent 6. Referral form is faxed, mailed or dropped off to the seating program by referral 	Intake Objective: Client is assigned to the appropriate clinic (commercial or custom)
space Communication devices (i.e., telephone, voicemail,	agent Screening Processes:	and is assessed in a timely manne
 and email) Seating program file, data base(s) and/ or spreadsheet(s) Provincial tracking system for equipment Photographs of client (when available) 	 Referral is screened by the program occupational therapist or physical therapist Program occupational therapist or physical therapist(s) collects additional information as 	
Human Resources:Referral agentsSeating ProgramOccupational TherapistSeating Program Physical	needed from alternative sources 6. Program therapist formulates a clinical judgment to assign the client to either a commercial or	
Therapist Custom Seating Technician Medical Equipment Supplier Seating Program	custom seating clinic a. If client is assigned to a commercial clinic, he/she is assigned to the medical equipment supplier of	
Administrative Assistant Seating Program Relief Staff Provincial Government Funding Program Representative	his/her choice Prioritization Processes 2. Client is prioritized according to date referral received or another method	

Table 12. Summary of Program Structure, Processes, and Outcome

Intake Processes	Factors	
Referral	The referral form	
	The characteristics of the referral agent	
Screening	The composition of the seating team	
	The accuracy of the referral information	
	The screener and his/her clinical judgment	
Prioritization	The lack of prioritization method	

Table 13. Factors Impacting the Effectiveness of Intake Processes

Table 14. Summary of Recommendations

Overall Recommendation

Develop and implement an intake protocol to address referral, screening and prioritization process

Specific Recommendations

Referral Process

- 1. Use a highly structure referral form that is tailored to the referral agent. The form should include important content and instructions (see Figure 9).
- 2. Develop, implement, and disseminate referral guidelines
 - i. Disseminate referral guidelines through practical workshops, lunch and learn sessions, video-recordings and written resources (i.e., enablers).
 - ii. Accept referrals from occupational therapists or physical therapists who have completed the education sessions and are accredited by the seating program
 - iii. Do not accept referral from clients, families and physicians directly; redirect client to appropriate referral agents

Screening Process

- 1. Establish and implement screening guidelines to be followed when making a judgment about the appropriate clinic for a client
 - i. Consider offering three types of seating clinics (i.e., commercial, custom, and combined commercial and custom).
 - ii. Designate an experienced occupational therapist or physical therapist to consistently screen referrals and make clinical judgments based on the screening guidelines

Prioritization Process

- 1. Develop and implement prioritization guidelines
 - i. Prioritize concerns according to the level of medical acuity, the degree of dysfunction, and environmental considerations
 - ii. List the types of seating concerns that would be given high, medium, and low priority

90

iii. Offer appointments to clients with higher priority needs first



Figure 13. Algorithm of Intake Protocol

Bibliography

Barker, C. & Girvin, J. (1991). Standards setting in paediatrics. *Nursing Standards*, *5*(25), 32-4.

Bate, P. & Robert, G. (2002). Studying health care "quality" qualitatively: The dilemmas and tensions between forms of evaluation research with the U.K. national health service. Qualitative Health Research, 12(7), 966-981

Bay, J.L. (1991). Positioning for head control to access an augmentative communication machine. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 45 (6),* 544-549.

Blumenthal, D.S. & DiClemente, R.J. (2004). *Community-based health research: issues and methods.* New York: Springer Publishing Company, Inc.

Bolin, I., Bolin, P., & Kreuter, M. (2000). Sitting position – Posture and performance in C5 – C6 tetraplegia. *Spinal Cord, 38(6)*, 425-434.

Botting, L. (2003). Referral criteria – The way forward for district nursing services, *Primary Health Care, 13(6), 12-16.*

Bowles, K.H., Naylor, M.D., Foust, J.B. (2002). Patient characteristics at hospital discharge and a comparison of home care referral decisions. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *50*, 336-342.

Bergen, A.F., Presperin, J., & Tallman, T. (1990). *Positioning for function: Wheelchairs and other assistive technologies*, Valhalla, NY: Valhalla Rehabilitation Publications.

Boudreau, D. (2001). *Program evaluation – Why we do not do it*. Unpublished master's thesis, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada.

Braden, B.J. (2001). Risk assessment in pressure ulcer prevention. In D.L. Krasner, G.T. Rodeheaver, & R.G. Sibbald (Eds.), *Chronic wound care: A clinical source book for healthcare professionals (3rd ed. pp. 641-652)* Wayne, PA: Health Management Publications, Inc.

Bradley, E., Colman, P., Wianko, C., & Wagman, J. (1986). A validity study of guidelines for wheelchair selection. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 53(1),* 19-24.

Brienza, D., Pratt, S., & Sprigle, S. (2005). Measurement of interface pressure – Research versus clinical applications. *Proceedings of* the 21st International Seating Symposium, Orlando, FI., 81-83.

Buntic, R.F., Siko, P., Buncke, G.M., Rueback, D., Kind, G., & Buncke, H.J. (1997). Using the internet for rapid exchange of photographs

and x-ray images to evaluate potential extremity replantation candidates. *Journal of Trauma Injury and Critical Care, 43(2),* 342-344

- Cannon, D.S., & Allen, S.N. (2000). A comparison of the effects of computer and manual reminders on compliance with a mental health clinical practice guideline. *Journal of American Medical Informatics Association*, 7, 196-203.
- Chandler, D., & Knackert, B. (1997). Positioners for wheelchairs in longterm-care facilities. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 51 (10), 921-924.
- Chen, C.F., Lien, I.N., & Wu, M.C. (1990). Respiratory function in patients with spinal cord injuries: Effects of Posture. *Paraplegia, 28,* 81-86.
- Chisholm, J. (1998). Development of a provincial seating model. *Proceedings of the 16th International Seating Symposium*, Vancouver, B.C,.
- Clark-Carter, D. (2004). Quantitative psychological research: A student's handbook (2nd ed.). New York: Psychology Press.
- Closs, S.J., & Tierney, A.J. (1993). The complexities of using a structure, process and outcome framework: The case of an evaluation of discharge planning for elderly patients. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *18(8)*, 1279-87.
- Collins, F. (n.d.) Seated patients: Clinical perspectives. Chertsey, Surrey: Hyden Advertising Ltd.
- Collins, F. (2001). An adequate seating service? Specialist seating provision in the UK. *Journal of Wound Care*, *10(8)*, 333-337.
- Cook, A.M., & Hussey, S.M. (2002). *Assistive Technologies: Principles and Practice*. (2nd ed.). St. Louis, Missouri: Mosby Inc.
- Cossette, L., & Duclos, E. (2002). A profile of disability in Canada, 2001 (No. 89-577-XIE), Statistics Canada. Ottawa, Ont.
- Crane, B., Holm, M., & Hobson, D. (2003). Development of a wheelchair seating discomfort assessment tool (WCS-DAT). *Proceedings of the Nineteenth International Seating Symposium*, Orlando, FI., 43-45.
- Cron, L. & Sprigle, S. (1993). Clinical evaluation of the hemi wheelchair cushion. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 47 (2), 141-4.
- Cutter, N.C., & Blake, D.J. (1997). Wheelchairs and seating systems: Clinical application. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation: State of the Art Reviews*, *11(1)*, 107-132.
- Datta, D.,& Ariyaratnam, R. (1996). Activities and user's views of a special seating clinic. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *18* (7), 365-368.

Donabedian, A. (2003). Selecting approaches to assessing performance. In R. Bashshur (Ed.), *An introduction to quality assurance in health care (pp. 46-57)*, Oxford: Oxford University Press Inc.

Donabedian, A. (1988). The quality of care. How can it be assessed? Journal of the American Medical Association, 260(12), 1743-1748.

Dunford, C., Street, E., O'Connell, J., Kelly, J., & Sibert, J.R. (2004). Are referrals to occupational therapy for developmental coordination disorder appropriate? *Archives of Disease in Childhood, 89(2),* 143-7.

Ehrenberg, A., & Birgersson, C. (2003). Nursing documentation of leg ulcers: Adherence to clinical guidelines in a swedish primary healthcare district. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 17, 278-284.

Embrey, D.G., Guthrie, M.R., White, O.R., & Dietz, J. (1996). Clinical decision making by experienced and inexperienced pediatric physical therapists for children with cerebral palsy. *Physical Therapy*, 76(1), 20-33.

Fife, S.E., Roxborough, L., Armstrong, R.W., Harris, S.R., Gregson, J.L., & Field, D. (1991). Development of a clinical measure of postural control for assessment of adaptive seating in children with neuromotor disabilities. *Physical Therapy*, *71(12)*, 981-93.

Fitzpatrick, J.L., Sanders, J.R., & Worthen, B.R. (2004). *Program evaluation: Alternative approaches and practical guidelines (3rd ed.)*. Boston: Pearson.

Gibson, D., Velde, B., Hoff, T., Kvashay, D., Manross, P.L., & Moreau, V. (2000). Clinical reasoning of a novice versus an experienced occupational therapist: A qualitative study. *Occupational Therapy in Health Care, 12(4),* 15-31.

Halsted, L.S., Dang, T., Elrod, M., Convit, R.J., Rosen, M.J., & Woods, S. (2003). Teleassessment compared with live assessment of pressure ulcers in a wound clinic: A pilot study. *Advances in Wound Care*, 16(2), 91-96.

Handler, A., Issel, M., & Turnock, B., (2001). A conceptual framework to measure performance of the public health system. *American Journal of Public Health*, *91(8)*, 1235-9.

Harries, P., & Gilhooly, K. (2003). Identifying occupational therapist's priorities in community health, *Occupational Therapy International*, *10(2)*, 150-164.

Harrop, M., & Amegavie, L. (2005). Developing a paediatric asthma review pro forma. *Nursing Standard*, *9*(*90*), 33-40.

Hergenroeder, A.C., Chorley, J.N., Laufman, L., & Fetterhoff, A.C., (2001) Pediatric residents' performance of ankle and knee examinations after educational interventions, *Pediatrics*, 107(4), E52.

- Hobson, D.A. (1990). Seating & Mobility for severely disabled. In Smith, R.V., Leslie, S.J.H. (Eds.). *Rehabilitation Engineering, (pp. 193-252)*. Boca Raton: CRC.
- Houghton, P.E., Kincaid, C.B., & Campbell, K.E., Keast, D.H. (2000). Photographic assessment of the appearance of chronic pressure and leg ulcers, *Ostomy Wound Management*, *46(4)*, 20-4, 26, 28-30.
- Howard, L.M. (1994). Multidisciplinary quality assurance: The case of a child development team ... part 1. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *57(9)*, 345-8.
- Hughes, C.J., Weimer, W.H., Sheth, P.N., & Brubaker, C.E. (1992).
 Biomechanics of wheelchair propulsion as a function of seat position and user-to-chair interface. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *73*, 263-269.
- Humle, J.B., Shaver, J., Acher, S., Mullette, L., & Eggert, C. (1987). Effects of adaptive seating devices on the eating and drinking of children with multiple handicaps. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *41*, 81-89.
- Humphreys, T., Shofer, S., Jacobson, S., Coutifaris, C., & Stemhagen, A. (1992). Preformatted charts improve documentation in the emergency department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine, 21(5),* 534-540.

Hurley, R.E. (1999). Qualitative research and the profound grasp of the obvious. *Health Services Research*, *34(5)*, *1119-1130*.

- Hutchinson, B., & Orsted, H.L. (2003). Pressure management: Assessment, prevention, intervention & evaluation, skills lab #1. (Available from the Skin and Wound Assessment and Treatment Team, Calgary Health Region – Home Care, P.O. Box 4016, Station C, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2T 5T1)
- Hutchinson, B., Swaine, J., & Juchymenko, J. (2004). Pressure Management. Symposium conducted at the Tenth Annual Conference of the Canadian Association of Wound Care, Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
- Idiculla, J.M., Perros, P., & Frier, B.M. (2000). Do diabetes guidelines influence the content of referral letters by general practitioners to diabetes specialist clinic. *Health Bulletin, 58,* 322-327.
- Jarret, C. (2004, December). Hooray I'm doing the forms. Intercom Online, Retrieved May 24, 2005, file name 2004012_06_08 from

http://www.stc.org/intercom/search/search.asp?QU=hooray&Action =Search.

- Johnson Taylor, S. (1987). Evaluating the client with physical disabilities for wheelchair seating. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *41(11)*, 711-716.
- Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation. (1994). *The program evaluation standards: How to assess evaluations of educational programs (2nd ed.).* Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Kangas, K.M. (2003). Sensation, sensory processing, and seating and mobility systems. Proceedings of the 19th *International Seating Symposium*, Orlando, FI., 87-88.
- Kennedy, P., Berry, C., Coggrave, M., Rose, L., & Hamilton, L. (2003). The effect of a specialist seating assessment clinic on the skin management of individuals with spinal cord injury. *Journal of Tissue Viability*, *13*(3), 122-5.
- Koo, T.K.K., Mak, A.F.T., & Lee, Y.L. (1996). Posture effect on seating interface biomechanics: Comparison between two seat cushions. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 77, 40-47.
- Lachmann, S.M., Greenfield, E., & Wrench, A. (1993). Assessment of need for special seating and/or electronic control systems for wheelchairs among people with severe physical disabilities. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 7, 151-156.
- Lard, L.R., Huizinga, T.W.J., Hazes, J.M.W., Vliet Vlieland, T.P.M. (2001). Delayed referral of female patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, *28(10)*, 2190-2192.
- Letts, L., & Dunal, L. (1995). Tackling evaluation: Applying a programme logic model to community rehabilitation for adults with brain injury. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 62 (5), 268-277.*
- Letts, L., Law, M., Pollack, N., Stewart, D., Westmoreland, M., Philpot, A., Bosch, J. (1999). *A programme evaluation workbook for occupational therapists: An evidenced-based practice tool.* Ottawa, Canada: CAOT Publications ACE
- Makepeace, R.W., Barnes, M.P., Semlyen, J.K., & Stevenson, J. (2001). The establishment of a community multiple sclerosis team. International Journal of Rehabilitation Research, 24, 137-141.
- Mattingly, D. (1993). Wheelchair selection. Orthopeadic nurse, 12(4), 11-16.

96

Mayan, M.J. (2001). An introduction to qualitative methods: A training module for students and professionals. Edmonton, Canada: International Institute of Qualitative Methodology.

- Mays, N. & Pope, C. (2000). Qualitative research in health care. *British Medical Journal*, 320, 50-52.
- McComas, J., Kosseim, M., & Macintosh, D. (1995). Client-centered approach to develop a seating clinic satisfaction questionnaire: A qualitative study. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *49(10)*, *980-5*.
- McCuaig, M., & Sebesta, E. (2002). Establishing criteria for a seating and mobility assessment waitlist. *Proceedings of the 18th International Seating Symposium*, Retrieved May 20th, 2005, from http://www.se atingandmobility.ca/ISS2002/ToSunnyHill2/iss2002html/027_ESTA BLISHINGCRITERIAFORASEATING.htm
- McDonald, R., Surtees, R., & Wirz, S. (2003). Repeated measures reliability of a modified version of the seated postural control measure. *Proceedings of the Nineteenth International Seating Symposium*, Orlando, FI., 49-50.
- McInerney, C. & McInerney, M. (1992). A mobility skills training program for adults with developmental disabilities. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 46(3)*, 233-9.
- McPherson, J.J., Schild, R., Spaulding, S.J., Barsamian, P, Transon, C., & White, S.C. (1991). Analysis of upper extremity movement in four sitting positions: A comparison of persons with and without cerebral palsy. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 45 (2), 123-129.
- Mensah, G.A. (2004). Rehabilitation referral revisited: Rhyme, reason, and response. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation*, 24, 175-177.
- Minkel, J.L. (2003). Advanced clinical applications of pressure mapping technologies. *Symposium at the 19th International Seating Symposium*, Orlando, Fl.
- Minkel, J.L. (2000). Seating and mobility considerations for people with spinal cord injury. *Physical Therapy*, *80*(7), 701-709.
- Mulvany, R., & Likens, C. (1998). Cost analysis of adaptive seating systems in a specialty seating clinic. *The Healthcare Supervisor*, **17** (1), 17-26.
- Nash, A. (1992). Patterns and trends in referrals to palliative nursing service. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *17*, 432-440.
- Noronha, J., Bundy, A., & Groll, J. (1989). The effect of positioning on the hand function of boys with cerebral palsy. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *43*(8), 507-512.
- Olunwa, M.N. (1987). Seating orientation and upper extremity function in children with cerebral palsy. *Physical Therapy*, *67 (8)*, 1209-1212.
- Olunwa, M.N. (1986). Effects of body orientation in space on tonic muscle activity of patients with cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 28, 41-44.
- Osborne, H. (2005). *Health Literacy from A to Z: Practical Ways to Communicate Your Health Message*. Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Patton, M.Q. (1997). *Utilization focused evaluation: The new century text* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, Ca: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Pope, P.M. (1996). Postural management and special seating. In S. Edwards (Ed.). *Neurological Physiotherapy: A Problem Solving Approach,* (pp.135-160), New York, NY: Churchill Livingston
- Pratt, S. (2003). The must do hands on seating assessment. *Proceedings* of the Nineteenth International Seating Symposium, Orlando, Fl., 91-93.
- Presperin, J.J. (1989, April/May). Seating and mobility evaluation during rehabilitation. *Rehab Management*, 53-57.
- Presperin Pedersen, J. (2000). Functional impact of seating modifications for older adults: An occupational therapist perspective. *Topics in Geriatric Rehabilitation*, *16*(2), 73-85.
- Rader, J., Jones, D., & Miller, L.L. (1999). Individualized wheelchair seating: Reducing restraints and improving comfort and function. *Topics in Geriatric Rehabilitation*, *15(2)*, 34-47.
- Redford, J.B. (1993). Seating and wheeled mobility in the disabled elderly population. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 74, 877-885.
- Reed, K., & Sanderson, S. (1992). *Concepts of Occupational Therapy*. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins.
- Reeder, B.M., Lyne, E.D., Patel, D.R., & Cucos, D.R. (2004). Referral patterns to pediatric orthopedic clinic: Implications for education and practice. *Pediatrics*, *113*(*3*), 163-167.
- Rossi, P.H., Lipsey, M.W., & Freeman, H.E. (2004). *Evaluation: A Systematic Approach (7th Ed.).* Thousand Oaks, Ca: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Roxborough, L. (1995). Review of the efficacy and effectiveness of adaptive seating for children with cerebral palsy. *Assistive Technology*, *7(1)*, 17-25.
- Scherer, M.J. (1994). Matching person and technology. Rochester, NY: Author.

Schriger, D.L., Baraff, L.J., Buller, K., Shendrikar, M.A., Nagda, S., Lin, E.L., et al. (2000). Implementation of clinical guidelines via a

computer charting system. *Journal of American Medical Informatics* Association, 7, 186-195.

Seeger, B.R., Caudrey, D.J., & O'Mara, N. (1984). Hand function in cerebral palsy: The effect of hip-flexion angle. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, *26*, 601-606.

Sharma, M. (2004). Viable methods for evaluation of community-based rehabilitation programmes. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 26(6),* 326-334.

Shortell, S.M. (1999). The emergence of qualitative methods in health services research. *Health Services Research*, 34(5), 1083-1089.

Sibbald, R.G., Tipping, J., Taylor-Vaisey, A. (1999). Planning group continuing education for maintenance certification: A handbook for implementation. Toronto, Ontario: Department of Medicine, University of Toronto.

 Stiens, S.A. (1998). Personhood, disablement, and mobility technology: Personal control of development. In D.B. Gray & L.A. Quatrano (Eds.), *Designing and Using Assistive Technology: The Human Perspective*, (pp. 29-49). Baltimore: Paul H Brookes Publishing Co.

Stinson, M., Porter, A., & Eakin, P. (2002). Measuring interface pressure: A laboratory-based investigation into the effects of repositioning and sitting. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 56(2), 185-190.

Swaine, J., Janzen, L., Oga, C., Marten, C., Swintom, L., Jacobson, B., et al. (2005). Clinical protocol for the administration and interpretation of interface pressure mapping for sitting. *Proceedings of the 21st International Seating Symposium*, Orlando, Fl., 81-83.

Syed, A.A., & Large, D.M. (2003). Quality of GP's referral letters to diabetes secondary care. *Practical Diabetes International, 20(5),* 165-169.

Tapaneeyakorn., W. (2002). *Nurse administrators' perceptions of quality indicators of nursing care in Thailand*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Iowa, Iowa.

Timmreck, T. (2003). *Planning, program development, and evaluation: A handbook for health promotion, aging and health services (2nd ed.).* Boston: Jones and Bartlett Publishers Inc.

Townsend, E. (1997). Enabling occupation: An occupational therapy perspective. Ottawa: Canadian Association of Occupational Therapists.

Travers, D.A., Waller, A.E., Bowling, J.M., Flowers, D., & Tintinalli, J. (2002). Five level triage system more effective than three level in

99

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

tertiary emergency department. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 28(5), 395-400.

- Wagner, D., Fox, M., & Ellis, E. (1994). Developing a successful interdisciplinary seating program. *Ostomy Wound Management*, *40(1)*, 32-41.
- Waksvik, K., & Levy, R. (1979). An approach to seating for the cerebral palsied. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *46(4)*, 14-153.
- Winter, R.B., & Waldermar, C.P. (1986). Pelvic obliquity: Its causes and its treatments. *Spine, 11(3),* 225-234.
- Wizowski, L., Harper, T., & Hutchings, T. (2002). Writing health information for patients and families: A guide to creating patient education materials that are easy to read, understand and use. (Available from the Clinical Practice and Education, General Hospital, 3LN)

Appendix A: Letter of Information / Consent Form



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Program Evaluation of the Seating Clinic Program

Primary Investigator: Dr. Vivien Hollis, PhD, MSc, TDipCOT, OT (c)

Co-Investigator(s):

- Bethany Hutchinson, Occupational Therapist (c), Graduate Student
- Dr. Al Cook, PhD
- Dr. Shaniff Esmail, PhD

Purpose:

- This research project will look at the strengths and weaknesses of the program processes used by the Seating Clinic Program.
- The project will take place over 8 months. It will begin in April 2004. It will end in November of 2004.
- The project results will be shared with those in charge of the program, and will be used to satisfy degree requirements.

Procedure:

- You are invited to participate in this research. You are asked to share your thoughts on the Seating Clinic Program processes.
- Your thoughts on the program will be collected using a questionnaire and a private interview. The total amount of time you will be asked to take part in the project is 1 to 2 hours. You will be interviewed at your work location and during work hours.

Possible Benefits:

 The project will identify program processes that participants view as strong or weak. This information will help improve the program.

Possible Risks:

It is possible that you may not be entirely happy with the results of the evaluation. This is because the results will not address any one person's agenda. Rather, the results will reflect the point of view of the participant group.

102

Appendix B: Paper & Pencil Questionnaire

Participant Code: ____

Introduction:

- This questionnaire will take approximately 10 minutes to complete.
- Remember that the information that you give will be kept confidential and will only be used as part of collated information. In any subsequent reports there will be no identifying information.
- You do not have to complete the questionnaire. You do not have to give a reason and it will not affect your standing with the program.

Instructions for Completion:

Please identify 3 program outcomes that you think are important <u>and</u> which you think could use improvement in the Seating Program.

A program outcome is the effect of the service on the clients at different stages in the program process. Depending on your area of involvement you might want to choose, for example, an outcome of screening, assessment, goal setting, intervention planning, equipment trial, fitting, intervention, or follow-up; or another outcome. Conversely you might want to consider the outcome of the service as the very end result of the intervention.

In the space provided, please name and briefly describe 3 program outcomes in the Seating Clinic Program that you think are important <u>and</u> which could use improvement

1.		н. Н						
	:			:				
2.							4 1 4	
						· · · ·		
3.	1. 							
	 		 	· · · ·	;		 	

Return the questionnaire in the envelope provided.

To: Bethany Hutchinson, MScOT Graduate Student, c/o 2-64 Corbett Hall, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta. T6G 2G4

105

Appendix C: Interview Script

Part 1

Introduction:

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this study. As you probably know, I am part of a team from the University of Alberta who are investigating what people working with the Seating Clinic Program think about the program. As part of the study we are speaking to the program staff to hear their perspectives on the strengths and weaknesses of the program processes.

Can I check that we have your consent form and that you have a copy of the information about the study?

We have set aside a couple of hours but <u>you</u> should decide when you have had enough for today. We will probably finish long before that. We can always come back another time if you would like but we can decide that at the end of the interview.

This interview will be tape recorded for later transcription. I would just like to remind you that all information that you give will be kept confidential and will only be used as part of collated information. In any subsequent reports there will be no identifying information.

Demographic Questions:

I would like to begin my asking you a few questions about your involvement with the clinic.

- 1. How long have you been involved with the Seating Clinic program?
- 2. Tell me about your work with the Seating Clinic program.
- 3. What type of training or experience do you have?

Part 2

Introduction to Donabedian Exercise:

We are going to begin the interview by completing an exercise together. (Give interviewee a copy of the form). This exercise will related to the

107

common program outcome identified by the group as needing improvement. Or, if you identified three program outcomes that were different, you can choose one program outcome that you wrote on the questionnaire or the common program outcome to use in this exercise.

On this form you will notice there are three columns. The left hand column is named Program Structure, the middle is named Program Process and the right hand column is named Program Outcome. In each column we are going to write down things that relate to these three topics. First, I will explain what type of information goes in each column.

- Program outcome refers to the effect of the service on the clients at different stages in process or the effect of the service as an end result of the intervention. Program outcomes were the items you described in the questionnaire.
- Program process includes things like what is actually being done in the program, as well as strategies, procedures, or actions taken in the program.
- Program structure includes things like the characteristics of the setting and facilities, the human and non human resources in the program, as well as, the level of expertise of staff.

I am now going to review the steps of the exercise. We will start the exercise by completing the right hand column titled Program Outcomes. Once we complete this column, we will work backwards to fill in the other two columns. We will identify the program processes connected with the program outcome listed in the right hand column. Then, we will fill in the program structure items that are connected to the program processes listed in the middle column. After we complete the form I will ask you about your perspective on the strengths and weaknesses of the program processes we have outlined in the middle column.

Is there anything you would like to ask about this exercise before we begin?

Questions related to Donabedian Exercise:

So, let's start by completing the Program Outcome column. Remember, earlier I said this exercise with relate to the common program outcome

identified by the group as needing improvement, lets write that outcome down now. Or, if you identified three program outcomes that were different, you can you choose one program outcome that you wrote on the questionnaire or the common program outcome.

- 1. Which outcome do you choose?
- 2. What made you choose this program outcome?

Next, let's complete the Program Processes column.

- - Probe: What strategies, procedures, actions, or processes are used to work toward the program outcome? What steps need to happen in order to move toward the achievement of the outcome?

Next we should complete the Program Structure column.

4. What structural things are involved in the processes we have just written down in the middle column?

Probe: What space, materials, and/or resources are used in the process? Who is involved in the process? What are the roles of the people involved in the process? What is the level of expertise of the people involved in the process?

Part 3

Process Strengths & Weaknesses Questions:

Now I would like to talk in more detail about the processes we wrote down in the middle column. These may or may not relate to the structure that we have just recorded.

- 6. What are the particular parts of the process that are strong / weak?

Probe: Can you expand on that?

7. What things support or help you to achieve (i.e., program outcome)?

Probe: What else would help you to reach the outcome?

- 8. What barriers or hiccups have you encountered in the process?
 - Probe: What is the source of the barrier or hiccup? Are there more? When does the barrier or hiccup usually occur?
- 9. How do you manage when you encounter barriers or hiccups in the process?

Probe:

What other supports do you use? Where do you get help? Who helps you? Have you discovered any ways around the barriers?

- 10. What do you think would make the process work better?
 - Probe: What needs to change? What should remain as it is now?

Is there anything else you would like to tell us about the program?

<u>Team Members</u> Bethany Hutchinson, BScOT, Graduate Student Dr. Vivien Hollis, PhD Dr. Al Cook, PhD Dr. Shaniff Esmail, PhD

Bethany Hutchinson, MScOT Graduate Student, 2-64 Corbett Hall, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta. T6G 2G4

Appendix D: Exercise Form

Participant Code: _

Program Structure (e.g., characteristics of the setting and facilities; the human and non human resources in the program; the level of expertise of staff)	Program Processes (e.g., what is actually being done in the program; and strategies, procedures, or actions taken in the program)	Program Outcomes (e.g., the effect of the service on the clients at different stages in process or the end result of the intervention)				